University of Rhode Island DigitalCommons@URI

Open Access Dissertations

2015

EVALUATION OF IN VITRO ANTI-INFLAMMATORY, ANTI-DIABETIC AND ANTI-LIPOGENIC ACTIVITY OF NATURAL POLYPHENOLIC EXTRACTS AND THEIR PURE CONSTITUENTS

Pragati P. Nahar University of Rhode Island, pragatinahar@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/oa_diss Terms of Use All rights reserved under copyright.

Recommended Citation

Nahar, Pragati P., "EVALUATION OF IN VITRO ANTI-INFLAMMATORY, ANTI-DIABETIC AND ANTI-LIPOGENIC ACTIVITY OF NATURAL POLYPHENOLIC EXTRACTS AND THEIR PURE CONSTITUENTS" (2015). *Open Access Dissertations*. Paper 365. https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/oa_diss/365

This Dissertation is brought to you by the University of Rhode Island. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@URI. For more information, please contact digitalcommons-group@uri.edu. For permission to reuse copyrighted content, contact the author directly.

EVALUATION OF IN VITRO ANTI-INFLAMMATORY, ANTI-DIABETIC AND ANTI-LIPOGENIC ACTIVITY OF NATURAL POLYPHENOLIC EXTRACTS AND THEIR PURE CONSTITUENTS

ΒY

PRAGATI PANKAJ NAHAR

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCE

UNIVERSITY OF RHODE ISLAND

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY DISSERTATION

OF

PRAGATI NAHAR

APPROVED:

Dissertation Committee:

Major Professor: NAVINDRA SEERAM

ANGELA SLITT

ROBERTA KING

NIALL HOWLETT

NASSER H ZAWIA

Dean, The Graduate School - URI

ABSTRACT

The long-term goals and objectives of our group are to identify bioactive natural products relevant to human disease prevention and health promotion. To attain this goal, the objective of this thesis was to demonstrate that bioactive polyphenol-rich extracts exert positive health benefits beyond basic nutrition, thus impacting overall health and wellness. We believe that this project has immense scientific merit from a human health perspective and will be of great public impact given that consumers are seeking natural and organic choices for improving health. In this investigation, we have focused our attention on investigating the biological activities of two novel phenolic-rich preparations derived from curcumin and maple syrup for future nutraceutical applications.

The work herein assessed the anti-inflammatory properties of novel standardized curcumin formulation (Longvida®) and phenolic-enriched maple syrup extract using a well-known *in vitro* model of inflammation, lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced RAW 264.7 murine macrophages. RAW 264.7 cells were co-treated with 50 ng/mL LPS and test extracts for 24 hours and then inflammatory markers were measured using gene and protein expression. The activation of nuclear factor-kappa B (NF κ B) was measured using luciferase activity. Both polyphenolic extracts were able to inhibit the LPS stimulated inflammation by down-regulating the inflammatory markers via targeting nuclear factor-kappa B (NF κ B) (a major pathway modulated in inflammation) transcriptional activity in murine macrophages.

Next, the work herein studied the anti-hyperglycemic and anti-lipogenic properties of novel standardized nutraceutical grade phenolic rich extract, (MSX). Human HepG2 hepatoma cells were treated with MSX for 24 h. Glucose consumption, AMP activated protein kinase (AMPK) activation and its target gluconeogenic gene expression were measured. The glucose levels were reduced by MSX in the hepatocytes though AMPK activation. Subsequently, the anti-lipogenic effect of MSX treatment in mature differentiated 3T3-L1 murine adipocytes and human visceral adipocytes was evaluated. MSX treatment to mature adjocytes decreased lipid accumulation, compared to control, in both murine and human adipocytes. In 3T3-L1 adipocytes, this effect was associated with downregulation of adipo/lipogenic protein expression (e.g. PPARy, Srebp1c). We also observed reduced mRNA expression of the pro-inflammatory mediators, namely IL-6, and TNF- α . Taken together, we demonstrated that a novel maple syrup extract exhibited anti-inflammatory, anti-hyperglycemic and anti-lipogenic activities in vitro.

The current study adds to the growing body of *in vitro* and *in vivo* data supporting the biological effects and potential health benefits of the novel curcumin formulation Longvida® and the natural sweetener, maple syrup.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

It is with immense gratitude that I acknowledge the support and help of my advisors Dr. Angela Slitt and Dr. Navindra Seeram. I am thankful to them for giving me this unique opportunity to work in their laboratories, thus exposing me to the diverse fields of natural products and pharmacology during my PhD tenure. The large portion of credit of my academic achievements during my PhD goes to both of them. Without their guidance, motivation and persistent help this dissertation would not have been possible. I am grateful for their patience and understanding during and after my pregnancy. They have helped me mature as a scientist and as a human being. It has been an honor to work with them. A special thank you to Dr. Seeram for believing in me when I first came to you and supporting me financially throughout my PhD. As he truly says- he always had my back. Without him it would have been an impossible dream to achieve.

I want to thank my defense committee members, Dr. Roberta King, Dr. Niall Howlett, Dr. Al Bach, and Dr. Chong Lee for their continued support and guidance during the comprehensive exam as well as my thesis defense.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Omar family for offering me the scholarship in my last year to complete my PhD.

iv

I also want to thank RI INBRE and GSC facilities for making available necessary technology for advanced research.

I would like to acknowledge all my past and present lab members- Maureen, Jialin, Liya, Tao, Vijay, Ajay, Laura, Deanna, Prajakta, Dan, Craig and Hang for the mutual support and help throughout all these years.

I am indebted to my parents- Mr. Sunil Bhandari and Mrs. Poornima Bhandari, my in-laws- Mr. Rushabh Nahar and Mrs. Asha Nahar, my sister- Ms. Amruta Bhandari, my brother-in-law Mr. Dhiraj Nahar, sister-in-law Mrs. Neha Nahar and my beautiful niece- Anushka. My family has always supported me in this difficult yet pleasant journey. They have always believed in me, motivated me and taught me the way to pursue the success.

Last but not the least, I owe my deepest gratitude to my beloved husband, Pankaj and my adorable son, Siddhant without them it would not have been possible to achieve this beautiful dream. Pankaj has always been my wonderful support system. His immense encouragement every time I wanted to quit, helped me achieve my goal. Without his help and confidence, I would not have completed my PhD.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my family, my husband and my son who have always stood by me and dealt with all of my absence from many family occasions with a smile. Their immeasurable support, encouragement, and constant love have sustained me throughout this wonderful journey of graduate school.

PREFACE

The following dissertation titled "Evaluation of in vitro anti-inflammatory, antidiabetic and anti-lipogenic activity of natural polyphenolic extracts and their pure constituents" is presented in manuscript format. There are three manuscripts in this dissertation. First chapter is introductory and serves as a general background for manuscript one, two and three. Manuscript one is formatted in Journal of Medicinal Food (J Med Food) journal style, second manuscript is in Journal of Functional Foods (J Funct Foods) style, and the third is in The Journal of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB J.) format. Manuscripts one and two are published in peer-reviewed journals as of March 2015.

ABSTRACTii	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv	v
DEDICATIONv	⁄i
PREFACEv	⁄ii
TABLE OF CONTENTSv	/iii
LIST OF TABLES	cii
LIST OF FIGURES x	iii
INTRODUCTION	
MANUSCRIPT 1	2
1.1 Abstract 1	13
1.2 Introduction 1	5
1.3 Materials and methods 1	8
1.3.1 Solid Lipid Curcumin Particle (SLCP) Formulations and Curcur	min
Extract 1	8
1.3.2 Cell culture 1	9
1.3.3 Cytotoxicity Assay 1	9
1.3.4 Nitrite determination2	20
1.3.5 PGE ₂ determination 2	20
1.3.6. Determination of IL-6 2	1
1.3.7. Transient transfection and luciferase assay	1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.3.8 Statistical analysis 22	•
1.4 Results	
1.4.1 Aqueous solubility of SLCP formulations vs. curcumin	
1.4.2. Effect of SLCP formulations on LPS-induced NO production. 23	
1.4.3. Effect of SLCP on PGE ₂ production	
1.4.4. Effects of SLCPs on the levels of IL-6	┢
1.4.5. Effects of SLCP formulations on NF- κ B activation	;
1.5 Discussion	;
1.6 Figure legends)
1.7 Tables	1
1.8 Figures	2
1.9 References	;
MANUSCRIPT 2)
2.1 Abstract	1
2.2 Introduction	3
2.3 Materials and methods	7
2.3.1 Phenolic-enriched maple syrup ethyl acetate extract	7
2.3.2 Isolation and identification of pure compounds	7
2.3.3 Cell culture and treatment 48	3
2.3.4. Cytotoxicity Assay 49	9
2.3.5. Nitric oxide (NO) activity 49	9
2.3.6. Prostaglandin E ₂ release	0
2.3.7. RNA isolation and qRT-PCR	0

	2.3.8. Western blotting
	2.3.9. Transient transfection and luciferase assay
	2.3.10. Statistical analysis 53
2.4	Results and Discussion 53
	2.4.1. MS-EtOAc extract inhibit NO production in LPS-stimulated RAW
	264.7 cells
	2.4.2. MS-EtOAc inhibits PGE_2 production in LPS-stimulated RAW
	264.7 cells
	2.4.3. Pure maple syrup isolates inhibit NO and PGE_2 production in
	LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells55
	2.4.4. Effect of MS-EtOAc extract on iNOS and COX-2 mRNA and
	protein expression in LPS- stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages 58
	2.4.5. MS-EtOAc extract decreases NF- κ B response element-luciferase
	reporter construct activity
2.5	Conclusion
2.7	Figure legends 64
2.8	Tables
2.9	Figures
2.6	References74
MAI	NUSCRIPT 3
3.1	Abstract
3.2	Introduction
3.3	Materials and methods

3.3.1 Chemicals
3.3.2. HepG2 Cell culture and treatment
3.3.3. Adipocyte culture and treatment
3.3.4. Glucose Consumption Assay 90
3.3.5. Oil red O staining and quantification
3.3.6. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)
analysis
3.3.7. Western blot 91
3.3.8. Statistical analyses
3.4 Results and Discussion
3.4.1. MSX increase glucose consumption in HepG2 cells by
downregulating gluconeogenic genes via AMPK activation
3.4.2. MSX imparts lipid-lowering effects in mature mouse and human
adipocytes
3.4.3. MSX downregulated lipogenic targets in mature 3T3-L1
adipocytes
3.5 Figure legends
3.6 Figures 102
3.7 References 109
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

LIST OF TABLES

MANUSCRIPT 1:

Table 1. Solubility of curcumin extract and the SLCP formulations in water...31

MANUSCRIPT 2:

MANUSCRIPT 3: None

LIST OF FIGURES

MANUSCRIPT 1:

Fig. 1: Effects of SLCP formulations on: a) Nitrite and b) PGE ₂ production in
LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells 32
Fig. 2: Effect of SLCP formulations on LPS-induced production of pro-
inflammatory cytokines including IL-6 in RAW 264.7 cells
Fig. 3: Effect of SLCP formulations on NF-kB activation in stimulated RAW
264.7 macrophages 34
MANUSCRIPT 2
Fig. 1 Compounds isolated from an ethyl acetate extract of Canadian maple
syrup (MS-EtOAc) 68
Fig. 2 Effect of MS-EtOAc extract on NO (a) and PGE_2 (b) production in LPS-
stimulated RAW 264.7 cells 69
Fig. 3 Effects of MS-EtOAc on iNOS mRNA and protein levels in LPS treated
macrophages
Fig. 4 Effects of MS-EtOAc on COX-2 mRNA and protein expressions in LPS-
stimulated RAW264.7 macrophages71
Fig. 5 Effects of MS-EtOAc on LPS induced NF- κ B luciferase activity in
macrophages
MANUSCRIPT 3
Fig. 1. Effect of MCV extract on alwages levels in the medic in the CO

Fig. 2. Effect of MSX extract on mRNA expression of genes involved in
gluconeogenesis, namely G6pase (A) and Pepck (B) in HepG2 hepatoma
cells
Fig. 3. Effect of MSX extract on protein expression of pAMPK, pACC and
Pepck in HepG2 hepatoma cells 104
Fig. 4. Effect of MSX extract on lipid accumulation by ORO staining and
quantification in mature 3T3-L1 and human visceral adipocytes 105
Fig. 5. Effect of MSX extract on protein expression of lipogenic targets after
MSX treatment in mature 3T3-L1 cells 106
Fig. 6. Effect of MSX extract on gene expression of inflammatory markers in
mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes 107
Fig. 7. MSX hypoglycemic and anti-lipogenic effect in HepG2 cells and 3T3-L1
cells

Introduction

The rapid growth of health foods, also known as nutraceuticals, has immensely impacted consumers. Though variety of oral drug formulations is available, there is an increasing trend towards using nutraceuticals for prevention of diseases or as adjuncts to conventional therapies (1). Botanical extracts, produced from medicinal plants and plant foods, are widely consumed worldwide as dietary supplements for the promotion and maintenance of human health. Herbal natural products constitute a major approach of Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM) that is widely utilized by consumers. Recently, market statistics show the growing attention and confidence that consumers place in the herbal dietary supplements. In 2013 alone, herbal dietary supplements sales were increased by 7.9%, and reported a sales figure of six billion dollars for the herb market. The 20 topselling herbal supplements in the natural and health foods channel in the United States includes turmeric, flax seed/oil, wheat or barley grass and cranberry etc. (2). These natural products are typically 'whole extracts' constituting complex mixtures of multiple substances found within the plant rather than a single compound alone. This has arisen out of a basic underpinning of the biological effects of botanical extracts, namely, 'the sum of the whole is greater than its parts' due to synergy, additivity and/or complementary effects among multiple constituents.

A growing body of research suggests that plant natural products, both in purified or extract forms, have anti-inflammatory properties and may impart beneficial effects against diseases with an inflammatory component (3-6). Dietary intake of bioactive class of compounds 'phenolics' with antioxidant and properties represents anti-inflammatory one mechanism to combat inflammation and promote overall human health. Polyphenols play a significant role in human nutrition and health, as these potent bioactive constituents are the most abundant phytochemicals in our diet (7-10). Possible efficacy of phenolics including biological extracts such as grape seed extracts, cocoa extracts, etc or pure constituents like resveratrol, curcumin. on inflammation, glucose and lipid homeostasis has been well published in cell culture studies, animal models and some clinical trials (14,11-13)

It is now well accepted that inflammation and associated pro-inflammatory processes are centrally linked to several chronic human diseases including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases (15-17). Regulatory mechanisms that monitor metabolism and immunity overlap with each other at many stages (18). The factors contributing to metabolic diseases like diabetes and obesity are insulin resistance, impaired glucose and lipid metabolism (19). As stated earlier, along with chronic inflammation, altered balance of pro-inflammatory and inflammatory factors are also involved in the pathogenesis of these metabolic diseases. Multiple complex molecular pathways that involve JNK, NFκB, SOCS, AMPK and PPAR family members

are responsible for development of hepatic insulin resistance by inflammation (18).

The Nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) signaling pathway has been well characterized and is considered to be a predominant signaling pathway in inflammation (15, 16). The activated form of NF κ B has been reported to be involved in chronic inflammatory diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, diabetes, arthritis, Alzheimer's disease, osteoporosis, and other (20-22). Thus, agents that can suppress NF κ B activation, such as plant natural products can potentially prevent, delay the onset, or treat NF κ B linked diseases (23-25). Moreover, many well-known antioxidants that are currently being marketed in nutraceutical preparations, such as resveratrol, curcumin, and pomegranate, are thought to elicit anti-inflammatory effects through downregulation of the NF κ B signaling pathway in macrophages (26, 27). Hence, in manuscript two and three we have demonstrated the antiinflammatory activities of standardized curcumin formulation Longvida® and polyphenolic maple syrup extract in RAW 264.7 macrophage model.

In the first manuscript, 'Anti-inflammatory effects of novel standardized solid lipid curcumin formulations', we have investigated *in vitro* biological effects of Longvida®, a commercially available standardized novel curcumin formulation, on the NF κ B signaling pathway which is a major molecular pathway involved in inflammation (15, 16). The investigations carried out in last few decades, confirmed that curcumin (the most active constituent of the curry spice turmeric) targets many transcription factors (NF κ B, ATF3, AP-1,

STAT-3), inflammatory mediators (NO, PGE₂, cytokines), enzymes, growth factors, protein kinases and cell-cycle regulatory proteins (27-30). Despite the promising health benefits of curcumin, water insolubility, low bioavailability and poor absorption are the limiting factors for the use of curcumin as a potential preventive and therapeutic agent (29, 31). Lately, very promising results were observed in an *in vivo* single-dose pharmacokinetic study of standardized novel solid lipid curcumin particle (SLCP) preparation (Longvida®), which reported 65 fold increased bioavailability of the preparation relative to generic curcumin extract and suggests the potential for sustained release dosage form (32). Furthermore an acute and subchronic toxicity study in rats and mice demonstrated the safety of SLCP and the No Observed-Adverse-Effect Level (NOAEL) was determined to be 720 mg/kg bw/day, the highest dose tested (33). Moreover, a recent study demonstrated that a low dose of a Longvida® (80 mg/ day) can produce a variety of potentially health promoting effects in healthy middle-aged people (34). Yet the effects of this bioavailable curcumin preparation Longvida® on inflammation remains unknown and detail investigation is needed. Thus, in the first manuscript we focused our attention on evaluating anti-inflammatory effects of this novel nutraceutical formulation Longvida®.

In the second manuscript, 'Phenolic mediated anti-inflammatory properties of a maple syrup extract in Raw 264.7 murine macrophages', we demonstrated that maple syrup extract attenuated lipopolysaccharide induced inflammation via NF κ B pathway in the same murine macrophage model that

was used in manuscript 1. Herein we have also investigated anti-inflammatory activities of fifteen pure compounds isolated from maple syrup extract. Maple syrup is a widely consumed natural sweetener with well-studied chemistry. Canada and eastern North America are chiefly responsible for the major commercial production of available maple syrup. Being the world's largest maple syrup supplier, this industry plays a critical role in the economy of this region. Maple syrup is a very interesting food to investigate, primarily due to its unique chemical profile. This natural sweetener constitutes mainly of carbohydrates (sucrose) along with various nutrients such as minerals, vitamins, amino acids, organic acids, phytohormones (abscisic acid, phaseic acid and their metabolites) and most importantly various phytochemicals (majorly phenolics belonging to the sub-classes lignan, phenolic acid, stilbene, coumarin, and flavonoid). The chemistry of maple syrup has been extensively studied; however there are very few biological studies that have been conducted. Thus, in this study we investigated the mechanistic insights into the anti-inflammatory activity of maple syrup extract and it's pure constituents. We believe that accomplishing this project has lead to increased scientific knowledge on the 'matrix' effects of multiple constituents exerting positive biological effects to this sweetener beyond sucrose alone. This project is thus necessary along the research continuum on this natural product.

Our maple syrup research has lead to the development of the first nutraceutical grade botanical extract from this food (named MSX) (35). Initially, the laboratory scale maple syrup extract project was focused on inflammatory

pathways but gradually it evolved, and then we started exploring the mechanisms involved in metabolic diseases like diabetes, obesity etc. that has chronic inflammatory component using food grade extract MSX. In the third manuscript titled, '*In vitro* hypoglycemic and lipid lowering effects of a standardized food grade maple syrup extract (MSX)', we have explored glucose lowering and lipid lowering potential of a nutraceutical grade MSX extract using hepatocytes and adipocytes respectively.

Searching for a signaling mechanism for the hypoglycemic action of MSX extract, we have explored its effect on 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) activation in human HepG2 hepatoma cell model. AMPK, a heterotrimeric serine/threonine kinase, is a vital metabolic regulator of fatty acid and glucose homeostasis. It is emerging as a potential target for the treatment of diabetes and chronic inflammatory diseases (19). Numerous studies have reported that the activation of AMPK can inhibit NFkB signaling indirectly, a master regulator of inflammation, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (36). Recently, activation of AMPK by metformin, a first-line anti-diabetic drug, has been shown to decrease glucose production and increase fatty acid oxidation in the liver (37, 38). It has been reported that AMPK activation by polyphenols may be at least partially responsible for their therapeutic benefits on hyperlipidemia in diabetes (39).

Moreover, there is a strong interplay between inflammation, diabetes and obesity. Adipocyte dysfunction has been linked to the development of type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance along with sub-clinical inflammation. Polyphenolic

compounds such as catechins, resveratrol etc. have modulatory effects on many complex pathways in adipose tissue including upregulation of fatty acid oxidation and reduction in the expression of the transcription factors, enzymes and genes involved in lipogenesis e.g. peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), CCAAT enhancer-binding protein- α (C/EBP- α), Sterolregulatory element-binding protein 1-c (Srebp-1c), fatty acid binding protein (FABP4), fatty acid synthase (FAS), and perillipin, etc. (14). A natural polyphenol, resveratrol has been shown to attenuate adipogenesis and lipogenesis in both murine and human adipocytes including mature and differentiating adjocytes cell models. Resveratrol has been used in several clinical trials and exhibited its effectiveness in inflammatory conditions and metabolic diseases. Thus, in this third manuscript, we investigated MSX effects on lipogenic pathways and adipo/lipogenic transcription factors in mature murine and human adipocytes. This study has provided data that will support the design of future preclinical trials with maple bioactives.

References:

1. Zheng XK, Li YJ, Zhang L, Feng WS, Zhang X. Antihyperglycemic activity of Selaginella tamariscina (Beauv.) Spring. J Ethnopharmacol. 2011;133(2):531-7.

2. Lindstrom A, Ooyen C, Lynch ME, Blumenthal M, Kawa K. Sales of Herbal Dietary Supplements Increase by 7.9% in 2013, Marking a Decade of Rising Sales: Turmeric Supplements Climb to Top Ranking in Natural Channel. Herbalgram. 2014(103):52-6.

3. Chen S. Natural products triggering biological targets--a review of the anti inflammatory phytochemicals targeting the arachidonic acid pathway in allergy asthma and rheumatoid arthritis. Curr Drug Targets. 2011;12(3):288-301.

4. Kim MK, Kim K, Han JY, Lim JM, Song YS. Modulation of inflammatory signaling pathways by phytochemicals in ovarian cancer. Genes Nutr. 2011.

5. Tan AC, Konczak I, Sze DM, Ramzan I. Molecular Pathways for Cancer Chemoprevention by Dietary Phytochemicals. Nutrition and cancer. 2011:1.

6. Zeng H, Lazarova DL. Obesity-related colon cancer: dietary factors and their mechanisms of anticancer action. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2011.

7. Del Rio D, Borges G, Crozier A. Berry flavonoids and phenolics: bioavailability and evidence of protective effects. Br J Nutr. 2010;104 Suppl 3:S67-90.

8. Del Rio D, Costa LG, Lean ME, Crozier A. Polyphenols and health: what compounds are involved? Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2010;20(1):1-6.

9. Obrenovich ME, Nair NG, Beyaz A, Aliev G, Reddy VP. The role of polyphenolic antioxidants in health, disease, and aging. Rejuvenation Res. 2010;13(6):631-43.

10. Seeram NP. Bioactive Polyphenols from Foods and Dietary Supplements: Challenges and Opportunities. Herbs: Challenges in Chemistry and Biology: American Chemical Society; 2006. p. 25-38.

11. Kar P, Laight D Fau - Rooprai HK, Rooprai Hk Fau - Shaw KM, Shaw Km Fau - Cummings M, Cummings M. Effects of grape seed extract in Type 2 diabetic subjects at high cardiovascular risk: a double blind randomized placebo controlled trial examining metabolic markers, vascular tone, inflammation, oxidative stress and insulin sensitivity. (1464-5491 (Electronic)).

12. Montagut G, Onnockx S, Vaqu $\sqrt{\mathbb{C}}$ M, Blad $\sqrt{\mathbb{C}}$ C, Blay M, Fern $\sqrt{^{\circ}}$ ndez-Larrea J, et al. Oligomers of grape-seed procyanidin extract activate the insulin receptor and key targets of the insulin signaling pathway differently from insulin. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry.21(6):476-81.

13. Sivaprakasapillai B, Edirisinghe I, Randolph J, Steinberg F, Kappagoda T. Effect of grape seed extract on blood pressure in subjects with the metabolic syndrome. Metabolism. 2009;58(12):1743-6.

14. Bahadoran Z, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Dietary polyphenols as potential nutraceuticals in management of diabetes: a review. Journal of Diabetes and Metabolic Disorders. 2013;12:43-.

15. Guo W, Kong E, Meydani M. Dietary polyphenols, inflammation, and cancer. Nutr Cancer. 2009;61(6):807-10.

16. He G, Karin M. NF-kappaB and STAT3 - key players in liver inflammation and cancer. Cell Res. 2011;21(1):159-68.

17. Santangelo C, Vari R, Scazzocchio B, Di Benedetto R, Filesi C, Masella R. Polyphenols, intracellular signalling and inflammation. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2007;43(4):394-405.

18. Buler M, Aatsinki SM, Skoumal R, Komka Z, Toth M, Kerkela R, et al. Energy-sensing factors coactivator peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1alpha) and AMP-activated protein kinase control expression of inflammatory mediators in liver: induction of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(3):1847-60.

19. Cool B, Zinker B, Chiou W, Kifle L, Cao N, Perham M, et al. Identification and characterization of a small molecule AMPK activator that treats key components of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. Cell Metab. 2006;3(6):403-16.

20. Morgan MJ, Liu ZG. Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-kappaB signaling. Cell research. 2011;21(1):103-15.

21. Kaltschmidt B, Kaltschmidt C. NF-kappaB in the nervous system. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology. 2009;1(3):a001271. PMCID: 2773634.

22. Park S, Yoon SJ, Tae HJ, Shim CY. RAGE and cardiovascular disease. Front Biosci. 2011;16:486-97.

23. Mortensen A, Sorensen IK, Wilde C, Dragoni S, Mullerova D, Toussaint O, et al. Biological models for phytochemical research: from cell to human organism. Br J Nutr. 2008;99 E Suppl 1:ES118-26.

24. Saracino MR, Lampe JW. Phytochemical regulation of UDPglucuronosyltransferases: implications for cancer prevention. Nutrition and cancer. 2007;59(2):121-41.

25. Haruyo I, Bharat BA, Shishir S, Navindra PS. Preventive and Therapeutic Effects of Plant Polyphenols through Suppression of Nuclear Factor-Kappa B. Molecular Interventions in Lifestyle-Related Diseases: CRC Press; 2005. p. 243-75.

26. Kang L, Heng W, Yuan A, Baolin L, Fang H. Resveratrol modulates adipokine expression and improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes: Relative to inhibition of inflammatory responses. Biochimie. 2010;92(7):789-96.

27. Rasheed Z, Akhtar N, Anbazhagan AN, Ramamurthy S, Shukla M, Haqqi TM. Polyphenol-rich pomegranate fruit extract (POMx) suppresses PMACI-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by inhibiting the activation of MAP Kinases and NF-kappaB in human KU812 cells. Journal of inflammation. 2009;6:1.

28. Aggarwal BB, Sung B. Pharmacological basis for the role of curcumin in chronic diseases: an age-old spice with modern targets. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2009;30(2):85-94.

29. Ρ. Kunnumakkara AB, RA, BB. Anand Newman Aggarwal Bioavailability of curcumin: problems and promises. Mol Pharm. 2007;4(6):807-18.

30. Gao X, Kuo J, Jiang H, Deeb D, Liu Y, Divine G, et al. Immunomodulatory activity of curcumin: suppression of lymphocyte proliferation, development of cell-mediated cytotoxicity, and cytokine production in vitro. Biochem Pharmacol. 2004;68(1):51-61.

31. Shehzad A, Wahid F, Lee YS. Curcumin in cancer chemoprevention: molecular targets, pharmacokinetics, bioavailability, and clinical trials. Arch Pharm (Weinheim). 2010;343(9):489-99.

32. Gota VS, Maru GB, Soni TG, Gandhi TR, Kochar N, Agarwal MG. Safety and pharmacokinetics of a solid lipid curcumin particle formulation in osteosarcoma patients and healthy volunteers. J Agric Food Chem. 2010;58(4):2095-9.

33. Dadhaniya P, Patel C, Muchhara J, Bhadja N, Mathuria N, Vachhani K, et al. Safety assessment of a solid lipid curcumin particle preparation: acute and subchronic toxicity studies. Food Chem Toxicol. 2011;49(8):1834-42.

34. DiSilvestro RA, Joseph E, Zhao S, Bomser J. Diverse effects of a low dose supplement of lipidated curcumin in healthy middle aged people. Nutr J. 2012;11:79.

35. Zhang Y, Yuan T, Li L, Nahar P, Slitt A, Seeram NP. Chemical compositional, biological, and safety studies of a novel maple syrup derived extract for nutraceutical applications. J Agric Food Chem. 2014;62(28):6687-98.

36. Salminen A, Kaarniranta K. Control of p53 and NF-kappaB signaling by WIP1 and MIF: role in cellular senescence and organismal aging. Cell Signal. 2011;23(5):747-52.

37. Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, Fenyk-Melody J, et al. Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. J Clin Invest. 2001;108(8):1167-74. PMCID: 209533.

38. Hawley SA, Gadalla AE, Olsen GS, Hardie DG. The antidiabetic drug metformin activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade via an adenine nucleotide-independent mechanism. Diabetes. 2002;51(8):2420-5.

39. Zang M, Xu S, Maitland-Toolan KA, Zuccollo A, Hou X, Jiang B, et al. Polyphenols stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase, lower lipids, and inhibit accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetic LDL receptor-deficient mice. Diabetes. 2006;55(8):2180-91.

Anti-inflammatory effects of novel standardized solid lipid curcumin formulations

Pragati P. Nahar, Angela L. Slitt*, Navindra P. Seeram*

Department of Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Science, College of Pharmacy, University of Rhode Island, Kingston, RI, 02881, USA

Running Title: Anti-inflammatory effects of curcumin formulations

Manuscript published in Journal of Medicinal Food, July 2015

1.1. Abstract

Inflammation and the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines are associated with numerous chronic diseases such as type-2 diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, Alzheimer's disease, and cancer. An overwhelming amount of data indicates that curcumin, a polyphenol obtained from the Indian spice turmeric, Curcuma longa, is a potential chemopreventive agent for treating certain cancers and other chronic inflammatory diseases. However, the low bioavailability of curcumin, partly due to its low solubility and stability in the digestive tract, limits its therapeutic applications. Recent studies have demonstrated increased bioavailability and health promoting effects of a novel solid lipid particle formulation of curcumin (Curcumin SLCP, Longvida[®]). The goal of the current study was to evaluate the aqueous solubility and in vitro anti-inflammatory effects of SLCP formulations using lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated RAW 264.7 cultured murine macrophages. SLCPs treatment significantly decreased nitric oxide (NO) and prostaglandin-E₂ (PGE₂) levels at concentrations ranging from 10-50 μ g/mL, and reduced Interleukin-6 (IL-6) levels in a concentration-dependent manner. Transient transfection experiments using a nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) reporter construct indicates that SLCPs significantly inhibit the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B in macrophages. Taken together, these results show that in RAW 264.7 murine macrophages, SLCPs have improved solubility over unformulated curcumin, and significantly decrease the LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators NO, PGE₂ and IL-6 by inhibiting the activation of NF- κ B.

Keywords: Curcumin, Longvida[®], Inflammation, Interleukin-6, Interleukin-1 β , NF- κ B, Nitric oxide, Prostaglandin-E₂

Abbreviations

Arbitrary units (AU); Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM); Enzymeimmunoassay (EIA); Fetal bovine serum (FBS); Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β); Interleukin-6 (IL-6); Lipopolysaccharide (LPS); Nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B); Nitric oxide (NO); No Observed-Adverse-Effect Level (NOAEL); Prostaglandin-E₂ (PGE₂); Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR); Relative light units (RLU); Solid lipid curcumin particle (SLCP); Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α).

1.2. Introduction

Inflammation and associated pro-inflammatory processes are centrally linked to several chronic human diseases including cancer, diabetes, obesity, diseases¹⁻⁶. arthritis. cardiovascular and neurodegenerative Durina inflammation, macrophages play a critical role in managing various immunopathological phenomena, including the overproduction of inflammatory markers such as nitric oxide (NO), prostaglandin-E₂ (PGE₂), tumor necrotic factor α (TNF α) and cytokines like interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-1 β (IL-1β). A number of inflammatory stimuli, for e.g. lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and pro-inflammatory cytokines, activate immune cells to produce inflammatory mediators, and these are therefore useful targets in the development of novel anti-inflammatory drugs and in the evaluation of the molecular mechanisms of potential anti-inflammatory drugs7,8. Thus, dietary agents that can suppress inflammatory markers, such as plant natural products, can potentially prevent, delay the onset, and/or treat inflammation and inflammatory-mediated diseases. A growing body of research suggests that plant phenolic compounds which possess antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties offer an attractive dietary strategy to combat inflammation and promote human health and wellness ^{9, 10}.

Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) is derived from the ground rhizomes of the *Curcuma longa* L. plant and is the most active curcuminoid in the Indian curry spice, turmeric^{11, 12}. Curcumin is a lipophilic, water insoluble, low molecular weight polyphenol (MW = 368 g/moL), which has been used for

culinary applications in many parts of the world. In Ayurveda, turmeric is widely used to treat a variety of conditions ranging from acute infections, wounds, and injuries in addition to chronic diseases like diabetes, asthma, and various inflammatory diseases¹³⁻¹⁵. A vast number of published research studies support a wide range of pharmacological effects of curcumin including anti-oxidant, anti-cancer, anti-Alzheimer's disease and anti-inflammatory effects both *in vitro* and *in vivo*^{13, 16}. On a molecular level, curcumin targets many transcription factors (including NF- κ B, AP-1, STAT-3), inflammatory mediators (PGE₂, cytokines), enzymes, growth factors, protein kinases and cell-cycle regulatory proteins ^{13, 17-19}

Despite the promising health benefits of curcumin, its low water solubility limits its oral delivery in aqueous-based formulations which are popular among consumers and widely used in the nutraceutical and functional food industries. Moreover, the poor bioavailability and extensive phase-II metabolism of curcumin are limiting factors for the oral dosage of unformulated curcumin which limits its potential as a preventive and/or therapeutic agent^{19, 20}. Various clinical trials have reported low systemic bioavailability of curcumin even after oral administration of doses up to 12 g/kg/day ^{16, 21}. Several research strategies have been undertaken to improve the bioavailability of curcumin, including blocking non-specific metabolic pathways, as well as novel drug delivery systems and formulations like liposomes, nanoparticles and phospholipid complexes ^{13, 22}. In a clinical study, a combination of curcumin and piperine, a nonspecific CYP-450 and (UDP-glucuronosyltransferase) UGT

inhibitor, resulted in increased curcumin bioavailability, but with an absorption half-life of only 7 minutes ²³. Other *in vitro* studies suggest that polymer-based nanoparticle formulations of curcumin, also known as 'nano-curcumin', exhibit pharmacological activity at slightly lower concentrations than that of pure curcumin in human pancreatic cancer cell lines ²⁴. However, the potential increase in bioavailability of these latter formulations is offset by the lack of data and clinical trials on the safety and metabolism of nanoparticle formulations in humans.

Recently, a single-dose human pharmacokinetic study of a standardized novel solid lipid curcumin particle (SLCP) preparation (commercially available as Longvida®) reported increased bioavailability compared to a generic curcumin extract, suggesting the potential for sustained release dosage forms of this natural product²⁵. Moreover, acute and sub-chronic animal toxicity studies by Dadhaniya et al. (2011) demonstrated the safety of the SLCP and the No Observed-Adverse-Effect Level (NOAEL) was determined to be 720 mg/kg bw/day which was the highest test dose²⁶. In addition, DiSilvestro et al. (2012) demonstrated that a low dose of a Longvida® (80 mg/day) imparted potentially health promoting effects in healthy middle-aged humans²⁷. Also, in a recent investigation, Longvida® selectively suppressed soluble Tau dimers and corrected molecular chaperone, synaptic, and behavioral deficits in transgenic mice suggesting that this curcumin formulation may have potential beneficial effects against Alzheimer's disease²⁸. However, to date, the effects of this bioavailable curcumin preparation, namely, Longvida®, on inflammation

and inflammatory biomarkers remains unknown.

The goal of the present study was to evaluate the effects of two novel SLCP preparations using LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages, a wellestablished *in vitro* anti-inflammatory model. LPS increases inflammatory markers such as NO, PGE₂ and IL-6 and we hypothesized that the standardized SLCP formulations would block the expression of proinflammatory mediators.

1.3. Materials and Methods

1.3.1. Solid Lipid Curcumin Particle (SLCP) Formulations and Curcumin Extract

The solid lipid curcumin particle (SLCP) preparation (Longvida®, SLCP-1), a solution-dispersible SLCP preparation (Longvida® SD, SLCP-2), and a curcumin extract (containing 95 % curcuminoids) were provided to our laboratory by Verdure Sciences (Noblesville, IN, USA). The SLCP extracts were produced using patent-pending methodology as described previously^{25, 27} and were standardized to contain approximately 20 % curcumin^{25, 26}. SLCP-1 is a granular powder used for tablets and capsules, and SLCP-2 is a fine powder intended for use in other dosage forms. Briefly, turmeric root extract was mixed with pure phosphatidylcholine, vegetable stearic acid, ascorbic acid (vitamin C) palmitate, and other inert ingredients. The formulations were manufactured under cGMP standards and meet internal and external specifications for precise chemical and physical characteristics. The solubility

of the two SLCP formulations and the curcumin extract are shown in Table 1 (data provided by Verdure Sciences).

1.3.2. Cell culture

RAW 264.7 mouse macrophage cells were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA). RAW 264.7 cells were routinely cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10 % v/v fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin (100 U/mL), and streptomycin (100 μ g/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and maintained at 37 °C with 5 % CO₂ humidified air. Stimulated RAW 264.7 cells (1 x 10⁵/100 μ L) were treated with 50 ng/mL LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) with or without different concentrations of test samples (10, 25, and 50 μ g/mL) for 24 h. All test samples were solubilized in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) with a final DMSO concentration < 0.1% in the culture medium. Cell culture supernatants were collected for nitrite (NO), PGE2, and cytokine assays.

1.3.3. Cytotoxicity Assay

The viability of RAW 264.7 macrophages after 24 h of continuous exposure to the test compounds was determined by performing colorimetric MTS [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymeth-oxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulphenyl)-2H-tetrazolium salt] assay (Promega, Madison, CA) according to the protocol described previously but with minor modifications²⁹. Briefly, after 24 h of

treatment, 20 µL of MTS reagent was added to each reaction well (in a 96-well format). After 2 h of incubation, the absorbance was measured at 490 nm using a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax M2, Molecular Devices Corp, Sunnyvale, CA).

1.3.4. Nitrite determination

RAW 264.7 macrophages were plated in a 96-well plate (1×10^5 cells/100 µL) and incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. After 24 h, the medium was replaced and the cells were co-treated with 50 ng/mL LPS and different concentrations of the SLCP formulations (10, 25 and 50 µg/mL) for 24 h at 37 °C. Cells that were not treated with LPS served as a negative control. After 24 h, the cell culture supernatants were collected and incubated (1:1, v/v) with modified Griess (1% 5% sulfanilamide in phosphoric acid 0.1% reagent and naphthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride in distilled water) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 20 min at room temperature as previously described³⁰. The absorbance at 540 nm was measured using a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax M2, Molecular Devices Corp, Sunnyvale, CA). The nitrite concentration was quantified by comparison with a sodium nitrite standard curve. The assay was performed in triplicate for each concentration.

1.3.5. PGE₂ determination

To evaluate the effects of various concentrations of the SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 formulations on PGE_2 levels, PGE2 metabolites accumulated in the cell
supernatants were measured using a PGE2 enzyme-immunoassay (EIA) kit (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI), according to the manufacturer's protocol. The assay was performed in triplicate for each concentration.

1.3.6. Determination of IL-6

The effects of the SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 formulations on the production of proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 was determined by Bio-Plex® Multiplex Immunoassays (BioRad Laboratories, Hercules, CA), as described by the manufacturer's instructions. The experiment was performed in quadruplicate.

1.3.7. Transient transfection and luciferase assay

LPS-induced NF- κ B upregulation accounts for a part of LPS-mediated activation of variety of inflammatory genes and hence it is important to identify the effects of SLCP formulations on the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B ³¹. To monitor these effects of the two SLCP formulations, RAW 264.7 macrophages were transiently co-transfected with pNF- κ B and pRL-CMV reporter vectors (Promega, Madison, CA) using GenePORTER® 3000 Transfection Reagent (Genlantis, San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the cells were seeded into 96-well plates (1.2×10^4 cells/100 µL) in complete medium without antibiotics (DMEM +10 % FBS) and incubated for 24 h (~50-70 % confluency). Cells were then treated with the transfection complexes and incubated for 72 h before treatment with each SLCP formulations (10, 25, and 50 µg/mL) for 2 h. LPS was added after 2 h (1 µg/mL). After 5 h, cells were

lysed with 20 μL passive lysis buffer and NF-κB activity was measured as relative firefly/renilla luciferase activity using a Dual-Luciferase® Reporter Assay System (Promega, Madison, CA) with a GloMaxTM 20/20 Luminometer (Promega, Madison, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. All samples were tested in quadruplicate. Luciferase activity was recorded as relative light units (RLU) and expressed as fold change relative to LPS-treatment control and the assay was performed using three replicates for each concentration.

1.3.8. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using the software program GraphPad Prism Version 5.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Experimental data were grouped by one variable and were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's multiple comparison test. A value of p < 0.05 was considered significant.

1.4. Results

1.4.1. Aqueous solubility of SLCP formulations vs. curcumin

The SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 formulations were both soluble in water, with SLCP-1 possessing ca. 14 % solubility and SLCP-2 having ca. 76 % solubility (see Table 1). On the other hand, the curcumin extract exhibited significantly less solubility in water which was in agreement with the previous data published by Kurien et al. (2007)³². Given this solubility data as well as the previously published data supporting the increased bioavailability of the SLCPs

compared to a generic curcumin extract in humans, ²⁵ we proceeded to further evaluate the SLCP formulations in targeted *in vitro* bioassays (described below).

1.4.2. Effect of SLCP formulations on LPS-induced NO production

NO and PGE₂ are secreted into cell culture supernatant by RAW 264.7 murine macrophages when they are treated with LPS. Since NO is highly unstable, the accumulation of nitrite (a stable oxidized product of NO) in culture media is often used as a biomarker for NO production in LPS-activated macrophages³³. A nitric oxide assay was used to evaluate the effect of the SLCP formulations on NO production as described in section 2.4. RAW 264.7 cells were incubated with or without LPS (50 ng/mL) in the presence or absence of test samples (10, 25 and 50 µg/mL) for 24 h. In LPS-stimulated macrophages, nitrite levels increased significantly to 88.7 \pm 6.2 μ M as compared to the solvent control (Fig. 1A). In Fig. 1A, treatment with SLCP formulations suppressed nitrite concentration in LPS-activated macrophages in a concentration-dependent manner. At 25 µg/mL, both SLCP formulations significantly decreased medium nitrite to 33.5 \pm 4.2 μ M and 61.6 \pm 2.0 μ M respectively. At 50 µg/mL, SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 both inhibited LPS-induced NO production in macrophages by 100 %. No nitrite production could be detected in cells treated with test compounds without LPS (data not shown).

1.4.3. Effect of SLCP on PGE₂ production

We next evaluated the effects of SLCP on LPS-induced PGE₂ synthesis in RAW 264.7 cells. The same supernatants were used for measurement of PGE₂. After stimulation with LPS (50 ng/mL), PGE₂ was released into the culture medium and rapidly converted into its metabolite. As shown in Fig. 1B, at 10 µg/mL SLCP-1and SLCP-2 lowered LPS-induced PGE₂ production to about 31 and 25 %, respectively. Treatment with 25 µg/mL of SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 significantly suppressed PGE₂ levels by about 66 and 64 % respectively, whereas both the test compounds at 50 µg/mL concentration reduced PGE₂ levels to about 96 % as compared to control. The SLCP formulations did not significantly increase PGE₂ levels in cells which were not treated with LPS (data not shown). Thus our results show that SLCPs inhibited PGE₂ production in a concentration-dependent manner in LPS-stimulated cells. The test compounds were not responsible for altering the viability of activated macrophages as determined by MTS assay (see Supplementary Fig.1). Hence, the observed reduction in NO and PGE_2 production by the SLCP treatments was not attributed to cytotoxic effects.

1.4.4. Effects of SLCPs on the levels of IL-6

LPS induction in macrophages causes the up-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 ³⁴. Consequently, the effect of varying concentrations of the test compounds on this cytokine was evaluated. LPS treatment significantly elevated levels of IL-6 (6043 \pm 589.94) in the media (Fig. 2). IL-6

levels in macrophages treated with the test compounds alone, without LPS, were negligible (data not shown). The SLCP formulations suppressed IL-6 levels in a concentration-dependent manner. At 25 and 50 μ g/mL of SLCP-1 treatment, IL-6 levels were significantly reduced by 29.4 and 97.4 % respectively. Similarly, treatment with 10, 25 and 50 μ g/mL of SLCP-2 decreased IL-6 production by about 2, 13 and 95 %, respectively. This data suggested that, both SLCP formulations were effective in lowering IL-6 levels in LPS-stimulated macrophages, with SLCP-1 being slightly more effective than SLCP-2 at higher concentrations.

1.4.5. Effects of SLCP formulations on NF- κ B activation

The activation of the transcription factor, NF- κ B is a key-step in stimulating pro-inflammatory signals. Thus, we next investigated the effect of the SLCP formulations on NF- κ B activity, by transient transfection of macrophages followed by luciferase assay. After treatment with 1 µg/mL LPS, the NF- κ B activity of the macrophages was significantly increased as compared to control (Fig. 3). Treatment with the SLCPs formulations significantly reduced NF- κ B transcription activity in a concentration dependent manner, as shown in Fig. 3. NF- κ B luciferase activity was decreased to almost 10-fold with 10 µg/mL of SLCP-1 treatment, whereas with 10 µg/mL of SLCP-2, the activity was reduced to about 6-fold as compared to control.

1.5. Discussion

Inflammation is a key component in multiple disease states³⁵. Based on a review of the literature, the NF-κB signaling pathway is the predominant upstream molecular signaling pathway that causes inflammation through enhanced cytokine, nitric oxide, and prostaglandin production³⁶. Several studies in different animal models and in human trials support the diverse pharmacological effects of curcumin including anti-proliferative, anti-angiogenic, anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory, anti-microbial, hepato- and nephro-protective properties etc.²². The SLCPs are novel proprietary curcumin formulations with improved solubility and bioavailability compared to generic curcumin. ²⁵ In this study, we investigated the inhibitory effects of the SLCP treatments on the inflammatory response initiated by LPS in RAW 264.7 macrophages.

In inflammation, macrophages undergo sequential steps to release proinflammatory mediators like cytokines, NO and PGE₂. These molecules recruit other immune cells to the sites of inflammation. Therefore inhibition of the release of these chemicals is a good strategy for monitoring inflammatory diseases ³⁵.

In the current study, we reported that LPS-activated RAW 264.7 murine cells treated with improved-solubility curcumin formulations, namely, SLCP-1 and SLCP-2, exhibited concentration-dependent down regulation of NO and PGE₂ production. These observations were in agreement with the previous studies, which reported the inhibition of NO through the suppression of

inducible, NO synthase gene and protein expression by curcumin in LPS and IFN- γ activated RAW 264.7 macrophages^{37, 38}. Our study further revealed that the SLCP treatments on LPS-activated macrophages decreased IL-6 levels in a concentration dependent manner. It has been demonstrated previously that there is a reduction in LPS-induced IL-6 levels with curcumin treatment in macrophages ^{39, 40}. Moreover, it was reported that curcumin blocked the LPS-induced NF- κ B activation through the prevention of Inhibitor κ B degradation in RAW 264.7 cells ³⁸. Thus, the down regulation of NF- κ B activation can be one of the many mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory effects of the SLCPs.

The improved solubility of SLCP formulations compared to regular curcumin (see Table 1) may be due to the amphiphilic nature of SLP formulations that utilize phospholipids and other lipids to solubilize curcumin in aqueous solutions. In previous studies, similar types of formulations contributed to the creation of micelle type physical structures that permit increased dissolution of lipophilic compounds. SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 differ with respect to powder size, and the differential solubility between them (Table 1) may be due to the relative amount of surface area exposed to the aqueous medium. In this study, it was found that SLCP-2 possessed greater water solubility than SLCP-1, likely due to its decreased powder size and thus increased surface area exposed to the aqueous solution. However, both SLCPs possessed similar activity *in vitro* on inflammatory mediators. Future research may investigate the dissolution and micellar characteristics of these

formulations and their interactions with cytokines on a molecular level. Overall, the increased aqueous solubility of the SLCP formulations compared to natural curcumin leads to a broader scope of possible formulations which can be utilized by the nutraceutical and functional food industries.

In toto, solid lipid curcumin particle (SLCP) formulations dosedependently mitigated the LPS-induced inflammatory response in macrophages, by down regulation of the production of the inflammatory markers NO, PGE₂ and IL-6 through inhibition of NF- κ B activation. SLCP-1 was slightly more effective at inhibiting the anti-inflammatory response than SLCP-2, and this may be due to concentration-dependent effects. The current findings suggest the use of increased-water soluble curcumin formulations such as SLCPs as potential therapeutic agents to combat chronic inflammatory diseases. Further investigations should explore the potential use of SLCP in the prevention and/or therapy of inflammation-linked diseases but future *in vivo* studies on SLCP are warranted to determine the clinical efficacy of these formulations of curcumin.

Acknowledgments

This project was partially supported by Verdure Sciences (Noblesville, IN) who also kindly provided the SLCP formulations and curcumin extract. This work was also supported by grants from the National Institute of Health [4R01ES016042, 5K22ES013782 to ALS] for the supplies. Spectrophotometric data were acquired from an instrument located in the RI-INBRE core facility located at the University of Rhode Island (Kingston, RI) obtained with Grant 5

P20 GM103430-13 from the National Center for Research Resources (NCRR),

a component of the National Institutes of Health (NIH).

Author Disclosure Statement

The authors declare no competing financial interests.

1.6. Figure legends

Fig. 1: Effects of SLCP formulations on: a) Nitrite and b) PGE₂ production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. Cells were co-treated with LPS (50 ng/mL) and samples (10, 25, 50 µg/mL) for 24 h. SLCP-1 and SLCP-2 inhibited NO and PGE₂ levels in LPS-stimulated macrophages in a concentration-dependent manner. Data are expressed as mean values \pm SD. ^a*P* < 0.001 and ^b*P* < 0.01 indicate a significant difference as compared with the LPS-treated group.

Fig. 2: Effect of SLCP formulations on LPS-induced production of proinflammatory cytokines including IL-6 in RAW 264.7 cells. The SLCP formulations were able to suppress IL-6 levels in a concentration dependent manner. Data are expressed as mean values \pm SD. ^aP < 0.001 and ^cP < 0.05 indicate a significant difference as compared with the LPS-treated group.

Fig. 3: Effect of SLCP formulations on NF-κB activation in stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. The SLCP formulations significantly inhibited the transcriptional activity of NF-κB in LPS-activated murine macrophages at tested concentrations. Data are expressed as mean values \pm SD. ^a*P* < 0.001 indicate a significant difference as compared with the LPS-treated group.

1.7. Tables

Table 1. Solubility of curcumin extract and the SLCP formulations in water.

Test samples	Solubility in water (%)	Solubility in water (µg/mL)	Fold improvement
Curcumin (unformulated)	0.00006	0.6	1
SLCP-1 (Longvida®)	14	140,000	233,000
SLCP-2 (Longvida®)	76	760,000	1,270,000

1.8. Figures







Supplementary Fig.1



1.9. References

- 1. Chen S: Natural products triggering biological targets--a review of the anti-inflammatory phytochemicals targeting the arachidonic acid pathway in allergy asthma and rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr Drug Targets*. 2011;12(3):288-301.
- 2. Kim MK, Kim K, Han JY, Lim JM, Song YS: Modulation of inflammatory signaling pathways by phytochemicals in ovarian cancer. *Genes Nutr.* 2011;6(2):109-115.
- 3. Ros E, Tapsell LC, Sabate J: Nuts and berries for heart health. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2010;12(6):397-406.
- 4. Tan AC, Konczak I, Sze DM, Ramzan I: Molecular pathways for cancer chemoprevention by dietary phytochemicals. *Nutr Cancer.* 2011;63(4):495-505.
- 5. Tapsell LC, Hemphill I, Cobiac L, et al.: Health benefits of herbs and spices: the past, the present, the future. *Med J Aust.* 2006;185(4 Suppl):S4-24.
- 6. Zeng H, Lazarova DL: Obesity-related colon cancer: dietary factors and their mechanisms of anticancer action. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 2012;39(2):161-167.
- 7. Zeilhofer HU, Brune K: Analgesic strategies beyond the inhibition of cyclooxygenases. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 2006;27(9):467-474.
- 8. Weon-Jong Yoon, Young Min Ham, Sang-Suk Kim, et al.: Suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, iNOS, and COX-2 expression by brown algae Sargassum micracanthum in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *EurAsian Journal of BioSciences*. 2009;3:130-143.
- 9. Del Rio D, Borges G, Crozier A: Berry flavonoids and phenolics: bioavailability and evidence of protective effects. *Br J Nutr.* 2010;104 Suppl 3:S67-90.
- 10. Del Rio D, Costa LG, Lean ME, Crozier A: Polyphenols and health: what compounds are involved? *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2010;20(1):1-6.
- 11. Ammon HP, Wahl MA: Pharmacology of Curcuma longa. *Planta Med.* 1991;57(1):1-7.

- 12. Bisht K, Choi WH, Park SY, Chung MK, Koh WS: Curcumin enhances non-inflammatory phagocytic activity of RAW264.7 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2009;379(2):632-636.
- 13. Aggarwal BB, Sung B: Pharmacological basis for the role of curcumin in chronic diseases: an age-old spice with modern targets. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 2009;30(2):85-94.
- 14. Jagetia GC, Aggarwal BB: "Spicing up" of the immune system by curcumin. *J Clin Immunol.* 2007;27(1):19-35.
- 15. Shishodia S, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB: Curcumin: getting back to the roots. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2005;1056:206-217.
- 16. Olivera A, Moore TW, Hu F, et al.: Inhibition of the NF-kappaB signaling pathway by the curcumin analog, 3,5-Bis(2-pyridinylmethylidene)-4-piperidone (EF31): anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer properties. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2012;12(2):368-377.
- 17. Gao X, Kuo J, Jiang H, et al.: Immunomodulatory activity of curcumin: suppression of lymphocyte proliferation, development of cell-mediated cytotoxicity, and cytokine production in vitro. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2004;68(1):51-61.
- Rasheed Z, Akhtar N, Anbazhagan AN, Ramamurthy S, Shukla M, Haqqi TM: Polyphenol-rich pomegranate fruit extract (POMx) suppresses PMACI-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by inhibiting the activation of MAP Kinases and NF-kappaB in human KU812 cells. *J Inflamm (Lond)*. 2009;6:1.
- 19. Anand P, Kunnumakkara AB, Newman RA, Aggarwal BB: Bioavailability of curcumin: problems and promises. *Mol Pharm.* 2007;4(6):807-818.
- 20. Shehzad A, Wahid F, Lee YS: Curcumin in cancer chemoprevention: molecular targets, pharmacokinetics, bioavailability, and clinical trials. *Arch Pharm (Weinheim).* 2010;343(9):489-499.
- 21. Cheng AL, Hsu CH, Lin JK, et al.: Phase I clinical trial of curcumin, a chemopreventive agent, in patients with high-risk or pre-malignant lesions. *Anticancer Res.* 2001;21(4B):2895-2900.
- 22. Anand P, Nair HB, Sung B, et al.: Design of curcumin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles formulation with enhanced cellular uptake, and increased bioactivity in vitro and superior bioavailability in vivo. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2010;79(3):330-338.

- 23. Shoba G, Joy D, Joseph T, Majeed M, Rajendran R, Srinivas PS: Influence of piperine on the pharmacokinetics of curcumin in animals and human volunteers. *Planta Med.* 1998;64(4):353-356.
- 24. Bisht S, Feldmann G, Soni S, Ravi R, Karikar C, Maitra A: Polymeric nanoparticle-encapsulated curcumin ("nanocurcumin"): a novel strategy for human cancer therapy. *J Nanobiotechnology*. 2007;5:3.
- 25. Gota VS, Maru GB, Soni TG, Gandhi TR, Kochar N, Agarwal MG: Safety and pharmacokinetics of a solid lipid curcumin particle formulation in osteosarcoma patients and healthy volunteers. *J Agric Food Chem.* 2010;58(4):2095-2099.
- 26. Dadhaniya P, Patel C, Muchhara J, et al.: Safety assessment of a solid lipid curcumin particle preparation: acute and subchronic toxicity studies. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 2011;49(8):1834-1842.
- 27. DiSilvestro RA, Joseph E, Zhao S, Bomser J: Diverse effects of a low dose supplement of lipidated curcumin in healthy middle aged people. *Nutr J.* 2012;11:79.
- 28. Ma QL, Zuo X, Yang F, et al.: Curcumin suppresses soluble tau dimers and corrects molecular chaperone, synaptic, and behavioral deficits in aged human tau transgenic mice. *J Biol Chem.* 2013;288(6):4056-4065.
- 29. Li L, Henry GE, Seeram NP: Identification and bioactivities of resveratrol oligomers and flavonoids from Carex folliculata seeds. *J Agric Food Chem.* 2009;57(16):7282-7287.
- 30. Legault J, Girard-Lalancette K, Grenon C, Dussault C, Pichette A: Antioxidant activity, inhibition of nitric oxide overproduction, and in vitro antiproliferative effect of maple sap and syrup from Acer saccharum. *J Med Food.* 2010;13(2):460-468.
- Djoko B, Chiou RY, Shee JJ, Liu YW: Characterization of immunological activities of peanut stilbenoids, arachidin-1, piceatannol, and resveratrol on lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation of RAW 264.7 macrophages. *J Agric Food Chem.* 2007;55(6):2376-2383.
- 32. Kurien BT, Singh A, Matsumoto H, Scofield RH: Improving the solubility and pharmacological efficacy of curcumin by heat treatment. *Assay Drug Dev Technol.* 2007;5(4):567-576.
- 33. Hevel JM, Marletta MA: Nitric-oxide synthase assays. *Methods Enzymol.* 1994;233:250-258.

- 34. Karin M, Greten FR: NF-kappaB: linking inflammation and immunity to cancer development and progression. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2005;5(10):749-759.
- 35. Lee H, Cho H, Lim D, Kang Y, Lee K, Park J: Mechanisms by Which Licochalcone E Exhibits Potent Anti-Inflammatory Properties: Studies with Phorbol Ester-Treated Mouse Skin and Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Murine Macrophages. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2013;14:10926-10943.
- 36. Karin M: NF-kappaB as a critical link between inflammation and cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2009;1(5):a000141.
- 37. Brouet I, Ohshima H: Curcumin, an anti-tumour promoter and antiinflammatory agent, inhibits induction of nitric oxide synthase in activated macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1995;206(2):533-540.
- Pan MH, Lin-Shiau SY, Lin JK: Comparative studies on the suppression of nitric oxide synthase by curcumin and its hydrogenated metabolites through down-regulation of IkappaB kinase and NFkappaB activation in macrophages. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2000;60(11):1665-1676.
- Zhao C, Yang J, Wang Y, et al.: Synthesis of mono-carbonyl analogues of curcumin and their effects on inhibition of cytokine release in LPSstimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Bioorg Med Chem.* 2010;18(7):2388-2393.
- 40. Guimaraes MR, Leite FR, Spolidorio LC, Kirkwood KL, Rossa C, Jr.: Curcumin abrogates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory cytokines in RAW 264.7 macrophages. Evidence for novel mechanisms involving SOCS-1, -3 and p38 MAPK. *Arch Oral Biol.* 2013;58(10):1309-1317.

Phenolic mediated anti-inflammatory properties of a maple syrup extract in Raw 264.7 murine macrophages

Pragati P. Nahar[§], Maureen V. Driscoll[§], Liya Li, Angela L. Slitt*, Navindra P. Seeram*

*Department of Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Rhode Island, Kingston, RI, 02881, USA

[§]Authors contributed equally to this study

Manuscript published in Journal of Functional Foods, January 2014

2.1. Abstract

The *in vitro* anti-inflammatory effects of a phenolic-enriched Canadian maple syrup ethyl acetate extract (MS-EtOAc) and 15 purified phenolic constituents were evaluated in a LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 murine macrophage cell model. MS-EtOAc decreased nitric oxide (NO) and prostaglandin- E_2 (PGE₂) production at 10-100 µg/mL concentrations. The observed NO inhibition was a direct result of reduced nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) protein and gene expression through suppression of NF- κ B transcriptional activation. In addition, MS-EtOAc upregulated cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) mRNA and protein expression. Among the 15 pure isolates, (E)-3,3'-dimethoxy-4,4'dihydroxystilbene was most effective in decreasing both NO and PGE₂ levels. However, 4-acetylcatechol, tyrosol, and protocatechuic acid only reduced PGE₂ levels. Thus, the potential anti-inflammatory activity of MS-EtOAc can be attributed to its unique combination of compounds and not as a result of a single purified phenolic constituent alone. Future research on the purified phenolic compounds will be useful in understanding the overall in vitro antiinflammatory effects of maple syrup.

Keywords: Maple syrup extract; Phenolics; Inflammation; RAW 264.7 Macrophages; Lipopolysaccharide

Abbreviations

Nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B); nitric oxide (NO); prostaglandin-E₂ (PGE₂); prostaglandins (PGs); tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α); interleukin-1 (IL-1); interleukin-6 (IL-6); cyclooxygenases (COX); nitric oxide synthase (NOS); cyclo-oxygensase-2 (COX-2); inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS); Maple syrup ethyl acetate extract (MS-EtOAc); lipopolysaccharide (LPS); fetal bovine serum (FBS); Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM); Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR); enzyme-immunoassay (EIA); phosphate buffered saline (PBS); tris-buffered saline with Tween 20 (TBST); relative light units (RLU)

2.2. Introduction

Functional foods and nutraceuticals, consumed for human health promotion and disease risk reduction, are among the fastest growing sectors of the modern food industry (Hardy, 2000). This has led to increased interest into the discovery and applications of new functional ingredients, from both marine and terrestrial sources, by several research laboratories (Marete, Jacquier, & O'Riordan, 2011; Vo & Kim, 2013). Similarly, our group has been involved in the identification of bioactive compounds from maple (Acer) species and maple syrup (Li & Seeram, 2010, 2011a, 2011b; González-Sarrías, Li, & Seeram, 2011; Apostolidis, Li, Lee, & Seeram, 2011). Notably, our research efforts in this area have contributed, in part, to the recent commercial development and utilization of maple sap/water as a functional beverage (Yuan, Li, Zhang & Seeram, 2013; http://ilovemaple.ca/products/maple-water). In the current project, we have now focused our attention on investigating the biological activities of a 'phenolic-enriched and sugar-reduced' extract derived from maple syrup (further explained below) for future potential applications as a functional food ingredient.

Maple syrup is a natural sweetener produced by concentrating the watery sap collected from maple species including the sugar maple (*Acer saccharum*) and red maple (*Acer rubrum*) species, which are both native to North America (Li & Seeram, 2010; Perkins & van den Berg, 2009). Maple syrup contains sugars (mainly as sucrose), organic acids, amino acids, minerals, and phytochemicals, the latter of which occur primarily as phenolics

(Abou-Zaid, Nozzolillo, Tonon, Coppens, & Lombardo, 2008; Ball, 2007; Li & Seeram, 2010). As mentioned above, our laboratory has previously isolated and identified more than fifty phenolics from maple syrup belonging to the lignan, coumarin, stilbene, and phenolic derivative sub-classes (Li & Seeram, 2010, 2011a, 2011b).

Published studies have shown that phenolic-enriched extracts of maple sap and syrup have *in vitro* anti-oxidant, anti-proliferative, anti-radical and antimutagenic activities (Legault, Girard-Lalancette, Grenon, Dussault, & Pichette, 2010; Theriault, Caillet, Kermasha, & Lacroix, 2006). In addition, our group has shown that phenolic-enriched maple syrup extracts and their purified constituents inhibit the growth of human colon cancer cell lines mediated by cell cycle arrest (González-Sarrías, Li, & Seeram, 2011). We also reported that maple syrup extract inhibits the activities of α -glucosidase and α -amylase enzymes using *in vitro* models (Apostolidis, Li, Lee, & Seeram, 2011). However, until now, the anti-inflammatory activity and the associated molecular mechanisms elicited by phenolic-enriched maple syrup extract have not been thoroughly studied. Furthermore, the activities of the purified phenolic compounds isolated from maple syrup that may be responsible for any observable anti-inflammatory activities have not been reported.

Inflammation is implicated in multiple chronic human diseases, such as cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases. Overwhelming data suggests that the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) signaling pathway is a predominant upstream molecular signaling pathway

that causes inflammation through enhanced cytokine, nitric oxide (NO), and prostaglandin (PG) production (Guo, Kong, & Meydani, 2009; He & Karin, 2011; Santangelo, et al., 2007; Vallabhapurapu & Karin, 2009). NF- κ B, a homo- or hetero-dimeric inducible transcription factor, resides in the cytoplasm in an inactive state and when activated, translocates to the nucleus (Valovka & Hottiger, 2011). In the nucleus, the activated form of NF- κ B induces the transcription of genes encoding pro-inflammatory mediators such as prostaglandin-E₂ (PGE₂), NO, and other inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 (IL-1) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) in response to pathologic stimuli (Park, Lee, Lee, & Kim, 2013). NO and PGE₂ are widely used as anti-inflammatory activity markers for high throughput biologically active compound screening (Djoko, Chiou, Shee, & Liu, 2007). Both NO and PGs are synthesized by inducible isoforms of the enzymes, nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and cyclooxygenases (COX), respectively (Chiu & Lin, 2008; Korhonen, Lahti, Kankaanranta, & Moilanen, 2005; Posadas, et al., 2000). Cyclooxygensase-2 (COX-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) have critical roles in the response of tissues to injury or infectious agents. These inducible enzymes are essential components of the inflammatory response, injury repair, and carcinogenesis (Posadas, et al., 2000; Vane & Botting, 1998). The activated form of NF- κ B has been found to mediate cancer, atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, diabetes, arthritis, Alzheimer's disease, osteoporosis, and other inflammatory diseases (Kaltschmidt & Kaltschmidt, 2009; Morgan & Liu, 2011). Thus, dietary agents that can

suppress NF-κB activation, such as plant natural products, including phenolics, can potentially prevent, delay the onset, or treat NF-κB mediated diseases (Lau, Joseph, McDonald, & Kalt, 2009; Mortensen, et al., 2008; Park, et al., 2012; Saracino & Lampe, 2007). Currently, many well-known dietary plant phenolics, such as resveratrol, curcumin, and quercetin, are thought to elicit anti-inflammatory and health promoting effects through downregulation of the NF-κB signaling pathway in macrophages (Kang, et al., 1999; Kang, Heng, Yuan, Baolin, & Fang, 2010; Korhonen, et al., 2005; Rasheed, et al., 2009). Moreover, previous research has shown that plant extracts and their purified compounds inhibit the pro-inflammatory COX-2 enzyme and the transcription factor, NF-κB (Henry, et al., 2009; Rettig, et al., 2008).

In the present study, we examined the potential for a phenolic-enriched maple syrup ethyl acetate extract (MS-EtOAc) to reduce inflammation endpoints in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated RAW 264.7 murine macrophages *in vitro*. The inflammatory markers, NO and PGE₂, along with NF- κ B activity, were measured. Lastly, 15 individual phenolic compounds (structures shown in Fig. 1 and identities shown in Table 1), previously isolated from maple syrup by our group (Li & Seeram, 2010, 2011b), were evaluated for their effects on NO and PGE₂ production in the LPS-stimulated macrophages.

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. Phenolic-enriched maple syrup ethyl acetate extract (MS-EtOAc)

Maple syrup was donated to our laboratory by the Federation of Maple Maple Syrup Producers of Quebec and was extracted with ethyl acetate as previously reported (González-Sarrías, Li, & Seeram, 2011). The extract was standardized to phenolic content by the Folin–Ciocalteau method as 34% gallic acid equivalents as previously reported (González-Sarrías, Li, & Seeram, 2011).

2.3.2. Isolation and identification of pure compounds from maple syrup

The isolation and identification of compounds from maple syrup have been previously reported (Li & Seeram, 2010, 2011b). The maple syrup isolates are predominantly phenolics belonging to lignan, coumarin, stilbene, and phenolic derivative sub-classes. Unfortunately, since many of the compounds were isolated in small quantities, and we were limited by sample availability, we were only able to pursue studies on 15 of the pure compounds (identities are shown in Table 1; chemical structures are shown in Fig. 1). In addition, because of limited quantity of these pure samples, we were only able to evaluate each sample once (in a 96-well format) but at three different concentrations for the bioassays described below.

2.3.3. Cell culture and treatment

RAW 264.7 mouse macrophage cells were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA). Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% v/v fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin G (100 U/mL), and streptomycin (100 µg/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and maintained at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ humidified air. RAW 264.7 cells were seeded (1 x 10⁵ cells/100 µL) in 96-well plates. After 24 h incubation, RAW 264.7 cells were stimulated with 50 ng/mL LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), followed by treatment with varying concentrations of MS-EtOAc extract (10, 50 and 100 µg/mL) or pure compounds (10, 25, 50 µM) for 24 h. MS-EtOAc extract and the pure compounds were solubilized in DMSO by sonication. The final DMSO concentration in the culture medium was < 0.3%. Negative controls were not treated with LPS, MS-EtOAc extract or pure compounds. Resveratrol (50 µg/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was used as a positive control for the assays, as it has been previously described to decrease LPS-induced NO and PGE₂ induction in RAW 264.7 cells through NF-kB downregulation (Djoko, et al., 2007; Tsai, Lin-Shiau, & Lin, 1999). After 24 h incubation, cell culture supernatants were collected for NO and PGE₂ measurements. Cell lysates were collected for both gene expression and protein expression analyses. For gene expression studies, RAW 264.7 cells were seeded in a 24-well plate at 1 \times 10⁶ cells/500 µL density. For Western blot analysis, cells were plated in a 6-well plate at 2 ×

10⁶ cells/mL density. Cell supernatants and lysates were stored at -80°C until use.

2.3.4. Cytotoxicity Assay

The viability of RAW 264.7 macrophages after 24 h of continuous exposure to MS-EtOAc extract (10-100 μ g/mL) or the pure compounds (10 - 100 μ g/mL), in the presence or absence of LPS (50 ng/mL), was determined. The MTS [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulphenyl)-2H-tetrazolium salt] assay (Promega, Madison, CA) was performed as described previously (Li, Henry, & Seeram, 2009) with modifications. Briefly, after 24 h of treatment, 20 μ L of the MTS reagent in combination with the electron-coupling agent, phenazine methosulfate, were added to each reaction well. The cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified incubator for 2 h and the absorbance was measured at 490 nm using a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax M2, Molecular Devices Corp, Sunnyvale, CA).

2.3.5. Nitric oxide (NO) activity

The nitrite levels in the cell culture supernatants were assayed as an indicator of NO production, according to the Griess reaction as previously described by Legault, Girard-Lalancette et al. (2010). Briefly, cell culture supernatants were incubated (1:1) with modified Griess reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 20 min at room temperature. The optical densities were measured at 540

nm and NO concentration was determined by comparison to a standard curve. The assay was performed in triplicate and repeated at least 4 times.

2.3.6. Prostaglandin E₂ release

The Prostaglandin E₂ Metabolite (PGE₂) assay is based on the conversion of all major PGE₂ metabolites into a single stable derivative, which is measured by using an enzyme immunoassay (EIA) kit (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI). Briefly, the protocol was followed using the manufacturer's protocol: (https://www.caymanchem.com/app/template/Product.vm/catalog/514010) whereby cell culture supernatants were used to examine the effects of the test compounds on PGE₂. The experiment was performed with three individual samples per treatment.

2.3.7. RNA isolation and qRT-PCR

For gene expression studies, RNA was extracted from RAW 264.7 cells after 24 h treatment with MS-EtOAc. Briefly, the medium was removed and the cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Total RNA was isolated with TRIzol (Invitrogen, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA concentration was determined by measuring UV absorbance of the sample at 260 nm using a NanoDrop (Wilmington, DE, USA). RNA samples were stored at -80 °C until use. Total RNA (1 µg) was reverse transcribed to cDNA using the Transcriptor Reverse Transcriptase cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN). According to

the manufacturer's website (http://www.roche-appliedscience.com/shop/products/transcriptor-high-fidelity-cdna-synthesis-kit), the kit contains a Transcriptor High Fidelity Reverse Transcriptase which is a blend of a recombinant reverse transcriptase and a proofreading mediating enzyme as a key component. Gene expression was measured in gRT-PCR reactions using SYBR-green with gene-specific oligonucleotide primers (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) using LightCycler[®] 480 (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN). Relative mRNA expression of each gene was normalized to the β -actin housekeeping gene. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

2.3.8. Western blotting

To extract protein for Western blot analyses, cells were harvested and washed with PBS. The whole cell protein extracts were prepared using RIPA buffer. The protein lysates were separated by 10% SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membranes (Millipore, Billerica, MA) prior to blocking for 1 h in Blotto (Santa Cruz biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) and then incubated with primary antibodies specific to iNOS, COX-2, or β -actin (Santa Cruz biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) for 2 h. Membranes were washed 3 times with tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) and then incubated with respective anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 45 min. Bands were visualized on X-ray films using ECL chemiluminescence

detection kit (GE Healthcare, Piscataway, NJ) according to the manufacturer's manual.

2.3.9. Transient transfection and luciferase assay

LPS-induced NF- κ B upregulation accounts for a part of LPS-mediated activation of variety of other inflammatory genes. Hence it is important to identify the effects of MS-EtOAc extract on the transcriptional activity of NF-κB (Djoko, et al., 2007). To monitor these effects of the MS-EtOAc extract, RAW 264.7 macrophages were transiently co-transfected with pNF- κ B and pRL-CMV reporter vectors (Promega, Madison, CA) using GenePORTER® 3000 Transfection Reagent (Genlantis, San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the cells were seeded into 96-well plates (1.2 \times 10⁴ cells/100 µL) in complete medium without antibiotics (DMEM +10%FBS) and incubated for 24 h (~50-70% confluency). Cells were then treated with the transfection complexes and incubated for 72 h before treatment with MS-EtOAc extract (10, 50 and 100 µg/mL) for 2 h. LPS was added after 2 h (1 μ g/mL) for 24h. After 5 h, cells were lysed with 20 μ L 1x passive lysis buffer and NF- κ B activity was measured as relative firefly/renilla luciferase activity using a Dual-Luciferase® Reporter Assay System (Promega, Madison, CA) with a GloMaxTM 20/20 Luminometer (Promega, Madison, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. All samples were tested in quadruplicate. Luciferase activity was recorded as relative light units (RLU) and expressed as

fold change relative to LPS-treatment control and the assay was performed using three biological replicates.

2.3.10. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using the software program GraphPad Prism Version 5.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Experimental data were grouped by one variable and were analyzed by unpaired two-tailed t-test or one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's multiple comparison test. A value of p < 0.05 was considered significant.

2.4. Results and Discussion

2.4.1. MS-EtOAc extract inhibit NO production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells

In order to study the anti-inflammatory activity of maple syrup phenolicenriched extract, a well-known inflammatory marker, namely NO, was selected. The effects of MS-EtOAc extract on NO production was determined by the measurement of nitrite released into the culture supernatants by LPS stimulated RAW 264.7 cells using the Griess reagent (Guevara, et al., 1998; Legault, et al., 2010). Nitrite levels in unstimulated RAW 264.7 cells were at baseline levels ($2.8 \pm 0.2 \mu$ M). However, upon stimulation with LPS, nitrite accumulation in the culture supernatant increased ~22-fold to 60.83 ± 2.2 μ M. Resveratrol, a known inhibitor of NO activity (Djoko, et al., 2007; Wadsworth & Koop, 1999), was used as a positive control for comparing the activity of MS-

EtOAc. Resveratrol (10 μ g/mL) inhibited NO release by 88.67% in LPSstimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. Similar activity was obtained with MS-EtOAc (Fig. 2a), which significantly reduced nitrite production by 84.9% (at 50 μ g/mL) and 94.3% (at 100 μ g/mL) as compared to the nitrite production by stimulated macrophages. Thus our results show that MS-EtOAc inhibited nitrite production in a concentration-dependent manner in LPS-stimulated cells. These findings are in agreement with the previous study where NO inhibition in LPS-induced RAW 264.7 macrophages was significantly higher with a maple syrup ethyl acetate extract in comparison to that of maple sap with a mean of about 75% NO inhibition per 25 μ g/mL of extract, which corresponds to a portion of 0.18 mL of pure maple syrup (Legault, et al., 2010).

2.4.2. *MS-EtOAc* inhibits PGE_2 production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells PGE₂ also functions as a mediator of inflammation, which is produced by metabolism of arachidonic acid by COX enzymes at inflammatory sites (Posadas, et al., 2000). The inhibitory effects of MS-EtOAc extract on PGE₂ levels in LPS-stimulated macrophages were evaluated. As shown in Fig. 2b, PGE₂ production increased following LPS treatment (14 ± 1.4 ng/mL), whereas in the absence of LPS, PGE₂ levels were close to baseline or were undetectable. PGE₂ levels were reduced to 0.8 ng/mL by resveratrol treatment. Treatment with 100 µg/mL of MS-EtOAc extract markedly reduced PGE₂ levels 85.2% in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells, to 2.1 ng/mL. However,

lower concentrations of MS-EtOAc extract only reduced PGE₂ levels by approximately 6% as compared to LPS-induced macrophages.

Taken together, these results suggest that MS-EtOAc extract is capable of reducing NO and PGE₂ LPS-induced inflammatory effects in stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. None of the tested concentrations of extract inhibited the growth of RAW 264.7 macrophages (Supplementary Fig. 1). Hence, the observed reduction in NO and PGE₂ production by the MS-EtOAc treatment was not attributed to cytotoxic effects.

2.4.3. Pure maple syrup isolates inhibit NO and PGE₂ production in LPSstimulated RAW 264.7 cells

Because MS-EtOAc is a complex mixture of compounds that could account for its NO and PGE₂ inhibitory effects, we tested 15 of its pure isolates for their ability to reduce NO and PGE₂ production. These compounds were previously isolated from maple syrup and their structures were elucidated by NMR methods (Li & Seeram, 2010, 2011b). In the MS-EtOAc phenolicenriched extract, compound 1 is the only stilbene, whereas compound 5 is the only coumarin among the tested samples. Compounds 9, 10, 12, 14 and 15 were all lignans. All of the other compounds were phenolic derivatives and are briefly categorized as follows: compound 13 contained a C₆-C₁ unit; compounds 2, 3 and 7 contained a C₆-C₂ unit and compounds 4, 6 and 8 contained a C₆-C₃ unit. At the test concentrations, the

pure compounds did not exhibit any cytotoxicity in the RAW 264.7 cells (data not shown).

Among all of the pure isolates, the only stilbene, (*E*)-3,3'-dimethoxy-4,4'-dihydroxystilbene (compound 1), was the most active compound and significantly inhibited NO as well as PGE_2 production in a concentration dependent manner (Table 1). At 50 µM, compound 1 decreased the nitrite level by 92.5% and PGE₂ level by 89.5% in media. These results were similar to the effects of the well-known stilbene, resveratrol (50 µM; used as a positive control), on the above inflammatory markers (data not shown).

As shown in Table 1, apart from compound 1, the majority of the other pure compounds were not effective in modulating NO production in LPSstimulated macrophages. However, compounds 3, 7, and 11 reduced PGE₂ levels in a concentration-dependent manner. At 50 μ M concentrations, compounds 3, 7 and 11 were the most effective in lowering PGE₂ levels with 95, 72.6, and 55.3% decrease, respectively. Interestingly, in this assay, the two most active isolates, compounds 3 and 7, both contained a C₆-C₂ structural motif. However, compound 2, which also contained the same C₆-C₂ structural motif, did not show any activity against the inflammatory markers. Based on structure activity related observations, the active compound 3 contained two aromatic hydroxyl groups while the inactive compound 2 contained one aromatic hydroxyl group. Therefore, it would appear that \leq two aromatic hydroxyls are required for inhibition of PGE₂ levels but further studies
on a larger number of structurally diverse compounds would be required to confirm this. Interestingly, compound 7, protocatechuic acid, has been shown to have anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer activity *in vitro and in vivo* (Lende, et al., 2011; Nakamura, et al., 2000; Reis, et al., 2010; Robbins, 2003).

Our data with compound 11, tyrosol, a well-known constituent of olive oil, was in agreement with a previous study where the reported IC₅₀ value for tyrosol for lowering NO level was >100 μ M (Choe, et al., 2012). Tyrosol (at 1, 2 and 4 mM concentrations) has been shown to inhibit iNOS and COX-2 expression in RAW 264.7 cells stimulated with IFN- γ and gliadin through reduction in NF- κ B, interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) and signal transducer and activator of transcription-1 α (STAT-1 α) activity (De Stefano, et al., 2007). However, this is the first report to show that tyrosol (at 50 μ M test concentration) inhibits PGE₂ level in RAW 264.7 cells stimulated by LPS.

Based on the above observations (detailed in Sec. 3.1 - 3.3), our findings suggest that the unique combination of phenolic phytochemicals in MS-EtOAc extract may be responsible for its anti-inflammatory activity. It is possible that these compounds work complementarily, additively, and/or synergistically *in toto* to abate inflammatory processes. Unfortunately, several of the previously reported pure compounds from MS-EtOAc were not isolated in sufficient quantities to facilitate further biological assaying (Li & Seeram, 2010, 2011b). Thus, future studies to evaluate the effects of all of the purified phenolic compounds from MS-EtOAc are warranted.

During transformation of maple sap into syrup, unique phenolic and non-phenolic compounds are formed due to the intensive heating process. For example, Quebecol, a novel process derived phenolic compound has been reported in maple syrup (Li & Seeram, 2011a). It has been demonstrated that transformation of maple sap in syrup improves NO inhibition activity. The heating process involved in the transformation of maple sap in syrup induces oxidation of the phenolics, suggesting its implication in the activity (Legault, et al., 2010). Further research is needed to identify these compounds as they may contribute to the observed biological effects of maple syrup.

2.4.4. Effect of MS-EtOAc extract on iNOS and COX-2 mRNA and protein expression in LPS- stimulated RAW 264.7 murine macrophages

In macrophages exposed to LPS, iNOS and COX-2 mRNA and protein expression are modulated, which ultimately results in overproduction of NO and PGE₂. In order to assess whether the inhibitory effects of MS-EtOAc extract on NO and PGE₂ were related to the alteration of iNOS and COX-2 enzymes, we examined their relative gene and protein expression by qRT-PCR and western blot analysis, respectively. iNOS and COX-2 mRNA and proteins were barely detectable in un-stimulated cells but were strongly expressed in lysates of LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. Resveratrol significantly decreased iNOS mRNA and protein levels at 10 µg/mL, which is in agreement with the previous reports wherein gene activation of iNOS was inhibited by resveratrol (Tsai, et al., 1999). MS-EtOAc decreased iNOS mRNA

expression in a concentration-dependent manner, by 51% and 72%, at 50 and 100 µg/mL, concentrations, respectively (Fig. 3a). Not surprisingly, MS-EtOAc extract also inhibited iNOS protein expression in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 3b). These results suggest that MS-EtOAc extract likely decreases nitrite accumulation through decreased iNOS gene and protein expression.

The acquired data clearly indicates that MS-EtOAc extract did not inhibit COX-2 mRNA (Fig. 4a) and protein levels (Fig. 4b) but inhibited PGE2 production as discussed previously. Since COX-2 gene expression was upregulated by MS-EtOAc extract treatment, the inhibitory effects observed in regards to decreased PGE₂ levels may potentially occur at the translational or post-translational levels. The reduced PGE₂ levels could be due to the inhibition at the enzymatic level by MS-EtOAc treatment. Resveratrol has also been shown to have a direct inhibitory effect on PG production by suppressing COX-1 and COX-2 enzyme activity in a concentration-dependent manner (Jang, et al., 1997; Subbaramaiah, et al., 1998).

MS-EtOAc demonstrated a similar mechanism of action common to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in inhibiting PGE2 production. In the previous studies, NSAIDs were reported to upregulate COX-2 expression in rodents (Davies, Sharkey, Asfaha, Macnaughton, & Wallace, 1997; Minghetti, Polazzi, Nicolini, Creminon, & Levi, 1997; Pang & Hoult, 1996). Indomethacin was reported to increase COX-2 protein expression at a concentration where it also inhibited NO synthesis and iNOS protein

expression in LPS-induced murine macrophages (Pang & Hoult, 1996). Similarly, ajoene, a natural product present in garlic, was also reported to increase COX-2 gene and protein expression but it inhibited NO, PGE₂ release and iNOS expression (Dirsch, Kiemer, Wagner, & Vollmar, 1998; Dirsch & Vollmar, 2001). In murine macrophages prostaglandins are suggested to act as negative feedback regulators of COX-2 expression (Davies, et al., 1997; Minghetti, et al., 1997; Pang & Hoult, 1996). Hence, inhibition of prostaglandin production may cause upregulation of COX-2 expression as shown in our study.

There is a complex 'cross-talk' between the iNOS and COX-2 pathways as has been evidenced by numerous studies. There are reports suggesting that NO seems to decrease COX-2 expression, however, not all published reports are consistent. Inhibitors of nitric oxide synthase activity such as N^{G} monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) have been demonstrated to increase COX-2 protein expression with decrease in NO production in rodent macrophages (Habib, et al., 1997; Patel, Attur, Dave, Abramson, & Amin, 1999; Swierkosz, Mitchell, Warner, Botting, & Vane, 1995). Reduced NO levels may contribute to the observed increased COX-2 protein and mRNA expression with MS-EtOAc treatment. Besides this negative regulation of COX-2 expression, other potential modes of action could be an effect of MS-EtOAc on COX-2 mRNA stability or effects at the transcriptional level. Therefore, further investigation is required to explore how MS-EtOAc affects the COX pathway and whether it inhibits COX activity at the enzymatic level.

2.4.5. MS-EtOAc extract decreases NF- κ B response element-luciferase reporter construct activity

Inflammation is associated with high levels of pro-inflammatory mediators like NO and PGE₂, which are produced by the inducible isoforms of enzymes iNOS and COX-2, respectively (Chung, et al., 2008; Nathan, 1992). The transcription factor NF- κ B, which regulates the expression of iNOS and PGE-2, plays a crucial role in inflammatory and immune responses (Chen, Castranova, Shi, & Demers, 1999). Thus, modulating NF-κB activating signals is one of the widely used strategies for the treatment of diseases associated with inflammation. Hence in order to measure NF- κ B transcriptional activity, the RAW 264.7 cells were transiently transfected with pNF-κB-luc and pRL-CMV-renilla and reporter constructs were used to determine the effects of MS-EtOAc extract on cells challenged with LPS. As expected, LPS treatment increased activity of the NF- κ B promoter construct by about 20-fold as compared to control (Fig. 5). The NF- κ B activity was decreased by approximately 50% with 10 and 50 μ g/mL concentrations of MS-EtOAc. Moreover, 100 µg/mL of MS-EtOAc decreased NF-KB reporter construct activity by ~ 75% (Fig. 5). The data herein supports the hypothesis that MS-EtOAc extract may interfere with NF- κ B transcriptional activity. LPS-induced iNOS gene activation has been linked to LPS-mediated NF-κB activation (Lowenstein, et al., 1993). Thus downregulation of iNOS expression by MS-EtOAc may be through reduced NF- κ B transcriptional activity.

NF-κB is also involved in transcriptional control of IL-1-induced COX-2 gene expression (Newton, Kuitert, Bergmann, Adcock, & Barnes, 1997). However, inflammation involves multiple complex pathways and these pathways interfere with each other. Thus, NF-κB is not the only transcription factor in LPS-mediated COX-2 gene expression in the mouse macrophages. It has been reported previously that NF-κB site is not essential for LPS-mediated COX-2 gene expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages (Wadleigh, Reddy, Kopp, Ghosh, & Herschman, 2000). This might explain the elevated COX-2 gene and protein expression.

On the basis of current results, we propose that the anti-inflammatory effect of maple syrup extract could be attributed to the inhibition of inflammatory modulators NO and PGE_2 through suppression of NF- κ B transcription.

2.5. Conclusion

The current study is the first report to investigate the mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory activity of a phenolic-enriched maple syrup extract and several of its purified constituents. We found that the maple syrup extract and its purified compounds significantly inhibited the production of LPS-stimulated inflammatory markers NO, PGE_2 and iNOS through the direct inhibition of NF- κ B transcriptional activity in RAW 264.7 macrophages. However, the upregulation of COX-2 gene and protein levels remain unexplained. Overall, the cellular mechanisms underlying these multiple effects may be attributed to

the unique combination of pure compounds present in the extract, which appear to act *in toto*. More detailed research is needed to get further insights into the exact anti-inflammatory mechanism of the MS-EtOAc extract.

Acknowledgment

This project was supported by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada from the Developing Innovative Agri-Products (DIAP) program. The Federation of Maple Syrup Producers (FPAQ) of Quebec participated in the production and donation of maple syrup. This work was also supported by grants from the National Institute of Health [4R01ES016042, 5K22ES013782 to ALS]. Spectrophotometric data were acquired from an instrument located in the RI-INBRE core facility located at the University of Rhode Island (Kingston, RI) supported by grant # 5P20GM103430-13 from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

2.6. Figure legends

Fig. 1 Compounds isolated from an ethyl acetate extract of Canadian maple syrup (MS-EtOAc).

Fig. 2 Effect of MS-EtOAc extract on NO (a) and PGE₂ (b) production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells.

The cells were co-incubated with LPS (50 ng/mL) and different concentrations of MS-EtOAc extract ranging from 10 -100 μ g/mL for 24 h. The supernatants were then collected for the measurement of NO and PGE₂ production using Griess reagent and an EIA kit, respectively. MS-EtOAc extract significantly inhibited NO (2a) and PGE₂ (2b) levels in LPS-stimulated macrophages. The values are expressed as the means ± S.D. of three individual samples. ***P < 0.001 as compared with the LPS-treated macrophages; significant differences between groups were determined using a one-way ANOVA test followed by a Dunnett's multiple comparison test. [#]P < 0.05 solvent control compared with the LPS-treated cells; significant difference was determined using unpaired student-t test.

Fig. 3 Effects of MS-EtOAc on iNOS mRNA and protein levels in LPS treated macrophages.

RAW 264.7 cells were co-treated with LPS (50 ng/mL) and various concentrations of MS-EtOAc extract (10, 50,100 μ g/mL) for 24 h. (3a) iNOS mRNA levels were determined as described in Section 2. iNOS mRNA

transcript levels were normalized to β -actin expression. MS-EtOAc extract inhibited iNOS mRNA expression in a concentration-dependent manner. Data are expressed as the means ± S.D. of three different samples. (3b) iNOS and housekeeping gene GAPDH expressions were monitored as described in Section 2.8. MS-EtOAc extract inhibited iNOS protein expression in a concentration dependent manner. ***P < 0.001 as compared with the LPStreated group; significant differences between groups were determined using a one-way ANOVA test followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. *P < 0.05 solvent control compared with the LPS-treated cells; significant difference was determined using unpaired student-t test.

Fig. 4 Effects of MS-EtOAc on COX-2 mRNA and protein expressions in LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 macrophages.

(4a) RAW 264.7 cells were co-treated with LPS (50 ng/mL) and various concentrations of MS-EtOAc extract (10, 50,100 μ g/mL) for 24 h. 1 μ g of total cellular RNA was subjected to RT-PCR followed by SYBR-green quantitative real-time PCR. COX-2 mRNA transcript levels were normalized to β -actin expression. MS-EtOAc extract increased COX-2 mRNA expression in a concentration dependent manner. Data are expressed as the means ± S.D. of three different samples. (4b) COX-2 protein expression was measured as described in section 2.8. MS-EtOAc extract treatment increased COX-2 protein expression. ***P < 0.001 as compared with the LPS-treated group; significant differences between groups were determined using a one-way

ANOVA test followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. [#]P < 0.05 solvent control compared with the LPS-treated cells; significant difference was determined using unpaired student-t test.

Fig. 5 Effects of MS-EtOAc on LPS induced NF- κ B luciferase activity in macrophages.

RAW 264.7 cells were transiently co-transfected with pNF- κ B and pRL-CMV reporter vectors. NF- κ B activity was measured using a Promega dual luciferase assay system. MS-EtOAc significantly reduced the LPS-induced increase in NF- κ B-dependent luciferase enzyme expression in a concentration-dependent manner. Data is the mean ± S.D. of three different samples. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 and ***P < 0.001 as compared with the LPS-treated group; significant differences between groups were determined using a one-way ANOVA test followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. *P < 0.05 solvent control compared with the LPS-treated cells; significant difference was determined using unpaired student-t test.

2.7. Tables

Table 1: Effect of pure compounds isolated from an ethyl acetate extract of Canadian maple syrup (MS-EtOAc) on NO and PGE₂ levels in LPS-induced RAW 264.7 macrophages.*

		% NO	% PGE ₂ inhibition		
No	Name	inhibition at 50 µM	10 μΜ	25 μΜ	50 μΜ
1	(E)-3,3'-Dimethoxy-4,4'-dihydroxystilbene	92.5	30.2	76.5	89.5
2	3',4',5'-Trihydroxyacetophenone	0	0.0	0	7.5
3	4-Acetylcatechol	6.5	56.0	88.6	95.0
4	2,3-Dihydroxy-1-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-1- propanone	1	0.0	0.0	0.0
5	Isofraxidin	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
6	2,3-Dihydroxy-1-(4-hydroxy-3,5- dimethoxyphenyl)-1-propanone	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
7	Tyrosol	1.6	0.0	45.0	72.6
8	3-Hydroxy-1-(4-hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxyphenyl) propan-1-one	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
9	Isolariciresinol	1.7	0.0	0.0	0.0
10	5-(3",4"-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-hydroxy-3-(4'- hydroxy-3'-methoxybenzyl)-4- (hydroxymethyl) dihydrofuran-2-one	0	0.0	2.0	6.2
11	Protocatechuic acid (3,4-Dihydroxybenzoic acid)	0	13.8	31.5	55.3
12	Threo-guaiacylglycerol-β-O-4'-dihydroconiferyl alcohol	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
13	4-Hydroxycatechol (hydroxyhydroquinone)	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
14	Sakuraresinol	6.4	0.0	5.8	28.1
15	Syringaresinol	2.2	0.0	7.5	23.8

*The cells were incubated with 50 ng/mL LPS and 10, 25 and 50 μ M of pure compounds (1-15). After 24 h, the supernatants were collected for determination of NO by Griess reaction and PGE levels by EIA assay. Data is the mean ± S.D. of three different samples.

2.8. Figures











Supplementary Fig. 1

Effect of MS-EtOAc extract on cell viability in LPS-induced RAW 264.7 cells. The cells were co-incubated with LPS (50 ng/mL) and different concentrations of MS-EtOAc extract ranging from 10-100 μ g/mL for 24 h. The MTS-PMS reagent (20 μ L) was then added and the optical densities were measured after 2 h. The values are expressed as the means ± S.D. of three individual samples.



2.9. References

- Abou-Zaid, M. M., Nozzolillo, C., Tonon, A., Coppens, M., & Lombardo, A. D. A. (2008). High performance liquid chromatography characterization and identification of antioxidant polyphenols in maple syrup. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, *46*, 117-125.
- Apostolidis, E., Li, L., Lee, C., & Seeram, N. P. (2011). In vitro evaluation of phenolic-enriched maple syrup extracts for inhibition of carbohydrate hydrolyzing enzymes relevant to type 2 diabetes management. *Journal* of Functional Foods, 3, 100-106.
- Ball, D. w. (2007). The chemical composition of maple syrup. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *84*, 1647–1650.
- Chen, F., Castranova, V., Shi, X., & Demers, L. M. (1999). New insights into the role of nuclear factor-kappaB, a ubiquitous transcription factor in the initiation of diseases. *Clinical Chemistry*, *45*, 7-17.
- Chiu, F. L., & Lin, J. K. (2008). Tomatidine inhibits iNOS and COX-2 through suppression of NF-kappaB and JNK pathways in LPS-stimulated mouse macrophages. *FEBS Letters*, *582*, 2407-2412.
- Choe, K. I., Kwon, J. H., Park, K. H., Oh, M. H., Kim, M. H., Kim, H. H., Cho, S. H., Chung, E. K., Ha, S. Y., & Lee, M. W. (2012). The antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of phenolic compounds isolated from the root of Rhodiola sachalinensis A. BOR. *Molecules*, *17*, 11484-11494.
- Chung, J. W., Noh, E. J., Zhao, H. L., Sim, J. S., Ha, Y. W., Shin, E. M., Lee, E. B., Cheong, C. S., & Kim, Y. S. (2008). Anti-inflammatory activity of prosapogenin methyl ester of platycodin D via nuclear factor-kappaB pathway inhibition. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 31*, 2114-2120.
- Davies, N. M., Sharkey, K. A., Asfaha, S., Macnaughton, W. K., & Wallace, J. L. (1997). Aspirin causes rapid up-regulation of cyclo-oxygenase-2 expression in the stomach of rats. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *11*, 1101-1108.
- De Stefano, D., Maiuri, M. C., Simeon, V., Grassia, G., Soscia, A., Cinelli, M. P., & Carnuccio, R. (2007). Lycopene, quercetin and tyrosol prevent macrophage activation induced by gliadin and IFN-gamma. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *566*, 192-199.

- Dirsch, V. M., Kiemer, A. K., Wagner, H., & Vollmar, A. M. (1998). Effect of allicin and ajoene, two compounds of garlic, on inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Atherosclerosis*, *139*, 333-339.
- Dirsch, V. M., & Vollmar, A. M. (2001). Ajoene, a natural product with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID)-like properties? *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *61*, 587-593.
- Djoko, B., Chiou, R. Y., Shee, J. J., & Liu, Y. W. (2007). Characterization of immunological activities of peanut stilbenoids, arachidin-1, piceatannol, and resveratrol on lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation of RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55, 2376-2383.
- González-Sarrías, A., Li, L., & Seeram, N. P. (2011). Anticancer effects of maple syrup phenolics and extracts on proliferation, apoptosis, and cell cycle arrest of human colon cells. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *4*, 185-196.
- Guevara, I., Iwanejko, J., Dembinska-Kiec, A., Pankiewicz, J., Wanat, A., Anna, P., Golabek, I., Bartus, S., Malczewska-Malec, M., & Szczudlik, A. (1998). Determination of nitrite/nitrate in human biological material by the simple Griess reaction. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 274, 177-188.
- Guo, W., Kong, E., & Meydani, M. (2009). Dietary polyphenols, inflammation, and cancer. *Nutrition and Cancer, 61*, 807-810.
- Habib, A., Bernard, C., Lebret, M., Creminon, C., Esposito, B., Tedgui, A., & Maclouf, J. (1997). Regulation of the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 by nitric oxide in rat peritoneal macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 158, 3845-3851.
- Hardy, G. (2000). Nutraceuticals and functional foods: introduction and meaning. *Nutrition, 16*, 688-689.
- He, G., & Karin, M. (2011). NF-kappaB and STAT3 key players in liver inflammation and cancer. *Cell Research, 21*, 159-168.
- Henry, G. E., Campbell, M. S., Zelinsky, A. A., Liu, Y., Bowen-Forbes, C. S., Li, L., Nair, M. G., Rowley, D. C., & Seeram, N. P. (2009). Bioactive acylphloroglucinols from *Hypericum densiflorum*. *Phytotherapy Research*, 23, 1759-1762.
- Jang, M., Cai, L., Udeani, G. O., Slowing, K. V., Thomas, C. F., Beecher, C. W., Fong, H. H., Farnsworth, N. R., Kinghorn, A. D., Mehta, R. G., Moon, R. C., & Pezzuto, J. M. (1997). Cancer chemopreventive activity

of resveratrol, a natural product derived from grapes. *Science*, 275, 218-220.

- Kaltschmidt, B., & Kaltschmidt, C. (2009). NF-kappaB in the nervous system. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 1*, a001271.
- Kang, B. Y., Chung, S. W., Chung, W., Im, S., Hwang, S. Y., & Kim, T. S. (1999). Inhibition of interleukin-12 production in lipopolysaccharideactivated macrophages by curcumin. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 384, 191-195.
- Kang, L., Heng, W., Yuan, A., Baolin, L., & Fang, H. (2010). Resveratrol modulates adipokine expression and improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes: Relative to inhibition of inflammatory responses. *Biochimie*, 92, 789-796.
- Korhonen, R., Lahti, A., Kankaanranta, H., & Moilanen, E. (2005). Nitric oxide production and signaling in inflammation. *Current Drug Targets Inflammation & Allergy, 4*, 471-479.
- Lau, F. C., Joseph, J. A., McDonald, J. E., & Kalt, W. (2009). Attenuation of iNOS and COX2 by blueberry polyphenols is mediated through the suppression of NF-κB activation. *Journal of Functional Foods, 1*, 274-283.
- Legault, J., Girard-Lalancette, K., Grenon, C., Dussault, C., & Pichette, A. (2010). Antioxidant activity, inhibition of nitric oxide overproduction, and in vitro antiproliferative effect of maple sap and syrup from Acer saccharum. *Journal of Medicinal Food, 13*, 460-468.
- Lende, A. B., Kshirsagar, A. D., Deshpande, A. D., Muley, M. M., Patil, R. R., Bafna, P. A., & Naik, S. R. (2011). Anti-inflammatory and analgesic activity of protocatechuic acid in rats and mice. *Inflammopharmacology*, *19*, 255-263.
- Li, L., Henry, G. E., & Seeram, N. P. (2009). Identification and bioactivities of resveratrol oligomers and flavonoids from Carex folliculata seeds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *57*, 7282-7287.
- Li, L., & Seeram, N. P. (2010). Maple syrup phytochemicals include lignans, coumarins, a stilbene, and other previously unreported antioxidant phenolic compounds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58*, 11673-11679.

- Li, L., & Seeram, N. P. (2011a). Quebecol, a novel phenolic compound isolated from Canadian maple syrup. *Journal of Functional Foods, 3*, 125-128.
- Li, L., & Seeram, N. P. (2011b). Further Investigation into maple syrup yields 3 new lignans, a new phenylpropanoid, and 26 other phytochemicals. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *5*9, 7708-7716.
- Lowenstein, C. J., Alley, E. W., Raval, P., Snowman, A. M., Snyder, S. H., Russell, S. W., & Murphy, W. J. (1993). Macrophage nitric oxide synthase gene: two upstream regions mediate induction by interferon gamma and lipopolysaccharide. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 90, 9730-9734.
- Marete, E. N., Jacquier, J.-C., & O'Riordan, D. (2011). Feverfew as a source of bioactives for functional foods: Storage stability in model beverages. *Journal of Functional Foods, 3*, 38-43.
- Minghetti, L., Polazzi, E., Nicolini, A., Creminon, C., & Levi, G. (1997). Upregulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in cultured microglia by prostaglandin E2, cyclic AMP and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *9*, 934-940.
- Morgan, M. J., & Liu, Z. G. (2011). Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-kappaB signaling. *Cell Research*, *21*, 103-115.
- Mortensen, A., Sorensen, I. K., Wilde, C., Dragoni, S., Mullerova, D., Toussaint, O., Zloch, Z., Sgaragli, G., & Ovesna, J. (2008). Biological models for phytochemical research: from cell to human organism. *The British Journal of Nutrition, 99 E Suppl 1*, ES118-126.
- Nakamura, H., Nishikawa, A., Furukawa, F., Kasahara, K., Miyauchi, M., Son, H. Y., & Hirose, M. (2000). Inhibitory effects of protocatechuic acid on the post-initiation phase of hamster pancreatic carcinogenesis induced by N-nitrosobis(2-oxopropyl)amine. *Anticancer Research*, 20, 3423-3427.
- Nathan, C. (1992). Nitric oxide as a secretory product of mammalian cells. *The Journal of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, *6*, 3051-3064.
- Newton, R., Kuitert, L. M., Bergmann, M., Adcock, I. M., & Barnes, P. J. (1997). Evidence for involvement of NF-kappaB in the transcriptional control of COX-2 gene expression by IL-1beta. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 237, 28-32.

- Pang, L., & Hoult, J. R. (1996). Induction of cyclooxygenase and nitric oxide synthase in endotoxin-activated J774 macrophages is differentially regulated by indomethacin: enhanced cyclooxygenase-2 protein expression but reduction of inducible nitric oxide synthase. *European Journal of Pharmacology, 317*, 151-155.
- Park, E., Lee, S.-M., Lee, J. e., & Kim, J.-H. (2013). Anti-inflammatory activity of mulberry leaf extract through inhibition of NF-κB. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *5*, 178-186.
- Park, J. W., Kwon, O. K., Jang, H. Y., Jeong, H., Oh, S. R., Lee, H. K., Han, S. B., & Ahn, K. S. (2012). A leaf methanolic extract of Wercklea insignis attenuates the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response by blocking the NF-kappaB signaling pathway in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Inflammation*, 35, 321-331.
- Patel, R., Attur, M. G., Dave, M., Abramson, S. B., & Amin, A. R. (1999). Regulation of cytosolic COX-2 and prostaglandin E2 production by nitric oxide in activated murine macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162, 4191-4197.
- Perkins, T. D., & van den Berg, A. K. (2009). Maple syrup-production, composition, chemistry, and sensory characteristics. *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research*, *56*, 101-143.
- Posadas, I., Terencio, M. C., Guillen, I., Ferrandiz, M. L., Coloma, J., Paya, M., & Alcaraz, M. J. (2000). Co-regulation between cyclo-oxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in the time-course of murine inflammation. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 361, 98-106.
- Rasheed, Z., Akhtar, N., Anbazhagan, A. N., Ramamurthy, S., Shukla, M., & Haqqi, T. M. (2009). Polyphenol-rich pomegranate fruit extract (POMx) suppresses PMACI-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by inhibiting the activation of MAP Kinases and NF-kappaB in human KU812 cells. *Journal of Inflammation, 6*, 1.
- Reis, B., Martins, M., Barreto, B., Milhazes, N., Garrido, E. M., Silva, P., Garrido, J., & Borges, F. (2010). Structure-property-activity relationship of phenolic acids and derivatives. Protocatechuic acid alkyl esters. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 6986-6993.
- Rettig, M. B., Heber, D., An, J., Seeram, N. P., Rao, J. Y., Liu, H., Klatte, T., Belldegrun, A., Moro, A., Henning, S. M., Mo, D., Aronson, W. J., & Pantuck, A. (2008). Pomegranate extract inhibits androgen-

independent prostate cancer growth through a nuclear factor-kappaBdependent mechanism. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 7, 2662-2671.

- Robbins, R. J. (2003). Phenolic acids in foods: an overview of analytical methodology. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *51*, 2866-2887.
- Santangelo, C., Rosaria, V., Scazzocchio, B., Benedetto, R. D., Filesi, C., & Masella, R. (2007). Polyphenols, intracellular signalling and inflammation. *Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanita, 43*, 394-405.
- Saracino, M. R., & Lampe, J. W. (2007). Phytochemical regulation of UDPglucuronosyltransferases: implications for cancer prevention. *Nutrition and Cancer, 59*, 121-141.
- Subbaramaiah, K., Chung, W. J., Michaluart, P., Telang, N., Tanabe, T., Inoue, H., Jang, M., Pezzuto, J. M., & Dannenberg, A. J. (1998). Resveratrol inhibits cyclooxygenase-2 transcription and activity in phorbol ester-treated human mammary epithelial cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 21875-21882.
- Swierkosz, T. A., Mitchell, J. A., Warner, T. D., Botting, R. M., & Vane, J. R. (1995). Co-induction of nitric oxide synthase and cyclo-oxygenase: interactions between nitric oxide and prostanoids. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 114, 1335-1342.
- Theriault, M., Caillet, S., Kermasha, S., & Lacroix, M. (2006). Antioxidant, antiradical and antimutagenic activities of phenolic compounds present in maple products. *Food Chemistry*, *98*, 490-501.
- Tsai, S. H., Lin-Shiau, S. Y., & Lin, J. K. (1999). Suppression of nitric oxide synthase and the down-regulation of the activation of NFkappaB in macrophages by resveratrol. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 126, 673-680.
- Vallabhapurapu, S., & Karin, M. (2009). Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *27*, 693-733.
- Valovka, T., & Hottiger, M. O. (2011). p65 controls NF-kappaB activity by regulating cellular localization of IkappaBbeta. *The Biochemical Journal*, 434, 253-263.
- Vane, J. R., & Botting, R. M. (1998). Anti-inflammatory drugs and their mechanism of action. *Inflammation Research, 47 Suppl 2*, S78-87.

- Vo, T.-S., & Kim, S.-K. (2013). Fucoidans as a natural bioactive ingredient for functional foods. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *5*, 16-27.
- Wadleigh, D. J., Reddy, S. T., Kopp, E., Ghosh, S., & Herschman, H. R. (2000). Transcriptional activation of the cyclooxygenase-2 gene in endotoxin-treated RAW 264.7 macrophages. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 6259-6266.
- Wadsworth, T. L., & Koop, D. R. (1999). Effects of the wine polyphenolics quercetin and resveratrol on pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *57*, 941-949.
- Yuan, T., Li, L., Zhang, Y., & Seeram, N. P. Pasteurized and sterilized maple sap as functional beverages: Chemical composition and antioxidant activities. *Journal of Functional Foods*, in press, 2013, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2013.06.009

In vitro hypoglycemic and lipid lowering effects of a standardized food grade maple syrup extract (MSX)

Pragati P. Nahar, Angela L. Slitt*, Navindra P. Seeram*

Department of Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Rhode Island, Kingston, RI, 02881, USA

3.1. Abstract

Pure maple syrup is highly regarded as a natural sweetener. Our laboratory has conducted extensive chemical and biological studies characterizing maple syrup and we have developed a food grade standardized maple syrup extract (named, MSX), which is well tolerated in rats. In this project, firstly we explored mechanism involved in hypoglycemic effects of MSX in HepG2 cells. Glucose lowering effects of MSX (at 100 µg/mL) was attributed to increased AMPK phosphorylation and lowered gluconeogenic gene expression as compared to control. Secondly, we also evaluated the anti-lipogenic effect of MSX treatment in mature differentiated 3T3-L1 murine adipocytes and human visceral adjocytes. MSX treatment (at 50, 100 µg/mL concentrations) to mature adjocytes decreased lipid accumulation compared to control in both murine and human adipocytes. In 3T3-L1 adipocytes, this effect was associated with downregulation of adipo/lipogenic protein expression (e.g. PPARy, SREBP-1). We also observed reduced mRNA expression of the proinflammatory mediators, namely IL-6, and TNF- α . The current study adds to the growing body of *in vitro* and *in vivo* data supporting the biological effects and potential health benefits of the natural sweetener, maple syrup.

Keywords: Maple syrup; Phenolics; 3T3L1; HepG2; AMPK; gluconeogenesis; lipogenesis

Abbreviations

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM); 5' Adenosine monophosphate-activated kinase (AMPK); Insulin resistance (IR); Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor y (PPARy); CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein (C/EBPa); sterolregulatory element-binding protein (SREBP-1); Nuclear factor kappa B (NFκB); Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM); Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS); Fetal bovine serum (FBS); Fetal calf serum (FCS); Oil Red O IsobutyImethylxanthine (IBMX); Dimethyl sulfoxide (ORO), (DMSO): Phosphate buffered saline (PBS); Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR); Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE); Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes; Tris buffered saline/Tween-20 (TBST); Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK); Glucose-6-phosphatase (G6pase); Acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1 (ACC-1); Glucose transporter (GLUT4), Fatty-acid-binding protein (FABP4); Lipoprotein lipase (LPL); Fatty acid synthase (FAS); Tumor necrosis factor-a $(TNF-\alpha)$; Interleukin-6 (IL-6)

3.2. Introduction :

In last few decades, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) has radically increased. Insulin resistance (IR) along with hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinaemia is the hallmark of T2DM. In T2DM, hyperglycaemia is predominantly caused by atypical increase in hepatic gluconeogenesis, leading to drastic increase in glucose levels (1, 2). Metformin, a well-known anti-diabetic drug, primarily corrects hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia by lowering hepatic gluconeogenesis via 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated kinase (AMPK) activation (3).

There is also an established link between obesity and diabetes due to related inflammatory processes (4). Obesity leads to increased circulation of proinflammatory markers leading to 'metabolic inflammation' which has been linked to the pathogenesis of IR and T2DM in humans and animal models (4). The de-lipidating effects of a well-studied polyphenol, resveratrol, via peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), CCAAT-enhancerbinding protein (C/EBP α) and sterol-regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP-1) etc., is well established (5). Phenolics have attracted significant research attention due to their diverse biological functions and potential positive effects on human health (6-8). Plant natural products, especially those rich in phenolics, have been shown to exert anti-inflammatory properties and therefore may have beneficial effects against diseases with an inflammatory component such as diabetes, obesity, cancer, cardiovascular disease, and arthritis(9-14).

Despite the availability of a wide variety of sweeteners, there is increasing consumer demand for *natural sweeteners* among which pure maple syrup is highly regarded. Maple syrup has different grades (ranging from light to amber to dark, based on light transmittance) and is predominantly used for table consumption. Notably, the maple syrup industry generates large volumes of dark and 'off-flavored' grades of maple syrup, which are not suitable for table consumption and are regarded as industrial 'by-products'. Similar to other food industries, for e.g. cranberry extracts being produced from the squeezed fruit pulp left over after juice extraction, these maple by-products are viable starting materials for the maple syrup industry to use to develop a food grade maple syrup-derived botanical extract. Recently, our laboratory has conducted extensive chemical and biological studies on a laboratory-scale phenolicenriched maple syrup extract. This work led to development of a nutraceutical grade maple syrup-derived extract (named, MSX) starting from by-products of the industry (15). MSX is chemically standardized and well tolerated by rats (non-toxic at doses of up to 1000 mg/kg/day), has a reduced sugar content compared to maple syrup (ca. 50% vs. 66%; constituting sucrose and *complex* polysaccharides) and maintains the natural profile of constituents (minerals, vitamins, organic acids, amino acids, phytohormones and phytochemicals) found in the food. Dietary compounds 'phenolics' are predominantly present among other phytochemicals in maple syrup extract. Given the beneficial health effects of polyhenols, herein we propose that polyphenol-rich MSX with unique chemical matrix would exert potential positive biological effects.

Our recent published studies have shown that a laboratory scale phenolicenriched extract of maple syrup decreases nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) activity and downstream inflammatory targets in murine macrophages (16). Moreover, maple syrup extracts have been shown to have antioxidant (6), α glucosidase enzyme inhibitory (17), anticancer (18) and anti-inflammatory (19) properties in vitro. In addition, maple syrup has been shown to have liver protective effects (20), improve metabolic response (21), and ability to reduce plasma glucose level compared to a sucrose solution alone (22, 23) in animal models. Recently, St-Pierre et al., (2014) reported that maple syrup produced low glycaemic and insulinaemic responses in vivo, and thus represents a natural sweetener alternative to refined sugar (21). Recently, our lab has reported MSX treatment lowered media glucose levels as compared to control in human HepG2 cells (15). However, the mechanism behind hypoglycemic effect of MSX is still unknown. Therefore, given all of above published in vitro and animal data, we believe that further investigation into demonstrating the hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects of this novel MSX extract is warranted.

In this investigation, we hypothesized that nutraceutical grade MSX extract lowered glucose levels via AMPK phosphorylation in hepatocytes. Moreover, we postulate the de-lipidating effects of MSX extract by downregulating the lipogenic targets in mature adipocytes.

3.3. Materials and Methods :

3.3.1. Chemicals

The cell lines HepG2 and 3T3-L1 preadipocytes were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA, USA). Human visceral adipocytes and the reagents for maintaining and differentiating them were purchased from Lonza biotechnology. Cell culture reagents such as Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS), fetal bovine serum (FBS) and fetal calf serum (FCS) were obtained from Lonza biotechnology. Trypsin-EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid) and penicillin-streptomycin were bought from Gibco BRL (Gaithersburg, MD, USA). Metformin, resveratrol, Oil Red O (ORO), isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), primary antibody anti- β -actin and peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). All primary antibodies were obtained from Cell Signaling Technology, Inc. (Beverly, MA, USA) except anti-SREBP1 and anti-PEPCK antibodies were purchased from Abcam. ECL[™] detection reagent was bought from GE Healthcare (Buckinghamshire, UK). Glucose assay kit was purchased from Eton Bioscience (San Diego, CA, USA). High-capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit was from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, USA). SYBR Green PCR Master Mix was obtained from Roche Applied Science (Indianapolis, IN, USA). Protein assay kit was purchased from Bio-Rad. Immobilion polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes were bought from Millipore EMD Corporation (Billerica, MA, USA). Zhang et al. (2014) had

previously described the preparation and chemical composition of the maple syrup nutraceutical extract (named, MSX), which was used in this study (15).

3.3.2. HepG2 Cell culture and treatment

HepG2 cells were maintained in a high-glucose (4.5 g/L) DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM glutamine, 1000 U/L penicillin and 100 mg/L streptomycin at 37 °C, 5% CO2, as described previously (15). The cells were seeded into a 12-well plate at a density of 4 x 10⁴ cells/well and cultured for 6-8 h. The cells were incubated with the low-glucose (1 mg/L) DMEM detection media supplemented with 2 mM glutamine and 1% FBS. After overnight incubation, the cells were treated with metformin (1 mM) or MSX extract (at 50 and 100 μ g/mL; stock solutions made in DMSO) diluted in the low glucose detection medium. The final DMSO concentration was 0.1% (v/v) in the test extracts. The cell supernatants and the cell lysates were collected after 24 h treatment.

3.3.3. Adipocyte culture and treatment

3T3-L1 preadipocytes were maintained in DMEM containing 10% FCS, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin to confluence at 37°C. The cells were seeded in 6-well and 24-well plates Adipocyte differentiation was induced at 2 days post-confluence (Day 0), using a mixture of IBMX (0.5 mM), dexamethasone (0.25 μ M), and insulin (5 μ g/mL) in DMEM containing 10% of FBS. On day 2, day 4 and day 6, this medium was replaced with DMEM

containing 10% of FBS and insulin only. The medium was switched to DMEM containing 10% of FBS on day 8 for 24 h. On day 9, the cells were treated with MSX extract (at 50 and 100 μ g/mL) and after 48 h the cell culture media and cell lysates were collected and stored at -80°C until analysis. To put the data from our assays into context, other therapeutics know to impact adipocyte function were included, such as metformin (4 mM) or resveratrol (50 μ M/10 μ g/mL) in these *in vitro* assays. These concentrations were chosen based upon previous studies that have reported the effective concentrations of the above-mentioned positive controls in the adipocytes for lowering the lipid content (24, 25).

Human visceral adipocytes were cultured and differentiated as per the manufacturer's instructions (Lot # 0000313366). Briefly, human primary preadipocytes were grown to confluence in Preadipocyte growth medium-2 provided in 5% CO2 at 37°C. When the cells reached confluence, the medium was replaced with Preadipocyte differentiation medium supplemented with a cocktail of insulin, dexamethasone, indomethacin and isobutyl-methylxanthine to Preadipocyte Growth Medium-2 for 10 days and cells were monitored for lipid droplet formation. After 10 days of culture, the adipocyte medium was withdrawn and cells were incubated with the MSX extract (100 μ g/mL) and positive controls. After 24 h, the cell culture media was removed and the cells were stained with ORO solution for visualizing lipid droplets.

3.3.4. Glucose Consumption Assay

The glucose concentration in the HepG2 cell supernatants was determined using a glucose assay kit as per the manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance was measured at 490 nm using a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax M2, Molecular Devices Corp, Sunnyvale, CA, USA), and the assay was performed in triplicates.

3.3.5. Oil red O staining and quantification

During differentiation of pre-adipocytes into adipocytes, intracellular lipid droplets are accumulated. ORO dye is used for staining these lipid droplets (26, 27). Briefly, after incubation with test extracts for given period of time the cells were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS); followed by fixing with 10% formalin for 1 h. The cells were washed twice with PBS and stained with filtered ORO solution (150 mg/ 50 mL Oil Red O and 60% (v/v) isopropanol in distilled water) for 15 min. The cells were then thoroughly washed with distilled water before imaging under an optical microscope at x10 magnification (EVOS FL Auto, Life technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Then the Oil Red O retained in the cells was extracted with isopropanol, the absorbance was spectrophotometrically determined at 570 nm using SpectraMax M2 (Molecular Devices Corp, Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

3.3.6. *Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis* Total RNA was extracted using a Trizol reagent and 1 µg of the extracted RNA

was reverse transcribed into cDNA using a cDNA reverse transcription kit. Then the mRNA expression levels were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix and the Lightcycler 480 Real Time PCR system (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The quantification of gene expression with real-time PCR data was calculated relative to β -actin gene expression.

3.3.7. Western blot

The cells were washed once with phosphate-buffered saline and lysed in RIPA buffer. Protein concentration was measured using a bichonic protein assay kit. Proteins were separated using sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred onto PVDF membranes. After 1 h incubation in blocking solution (5% skim milk), the membranes were incubated overnight with primary antibodies in cold room. The membranes were washed thrice with Tris buffered saline/Tween-20 (TBST) for 10 min each followed by incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. The membranes were again washed three times with TBST and then developed on X-ray films using ECL[™] detection reagent. The bands were quantified using the Image J program (NIH, Washington, DC, USA).

3.3.8. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were carried out using the software program GraphPad Prism Version 5.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Results are expressed as the means \pm the standard error of the mean (S.E.). The experimental data was analyzed by unpaired one-tailed t-test (for compairing differences between two individual groups) or one-way ANOVA (for comparing differences between all groups together) followed by a Dunnett's multiple comparison test. *p* < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.4. Results & Discussion:

3.4.1. MSX increase glucose consumption in HepG2 cells by downregulating gluconeogenic genes via AMPK activation

It has been reported that natural products can regulate glucose and lipid metabolism in HepG2 liver hepatocytes (28). Similarly, in our recent MSX study (15) in HepG2 cells, MSX lowered glucose levels in the media along with clinical anti-diabetic drug metformin, after brief incubation for 7 h. Given that MSX decreased glucose levels in HepG2 cells through increased glucose consumption, it was investigated whether MSX constituents are activators of the AMPK pathway, which suppress gluconeogenesis (29), similar to metformin (30). Herein, the treatment was extended further for 24 h in HepG2 cells as contrast to our recent study in which the cells were treated only for 7 h. Briefly, HepG2 cells were incubated with low glucose media overnight followed by treatment with MSX (50 and 100 µg/mL) or metformin (100 µM or
1 mM) for 24 h. The cell culture media was collected for measurement of glucose. As shown in Fig. 1, MSX (100 μg/mL) reduced media glucose levels to 70% of DMSO treated control cells. Next, the expression of gluconeogenic rate limiting enzymes, (e.g. phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase [PEPCK] and glucose-6-phosphatase [G6pase], was evaluated (31). After 24 hrs MSX (100 μg/mL) treatment, G6pase mRNA expression was reduced to 68% of control. However, PEPCK mRNA expression was similar to vehicle-treated controls (Fig. 2).

In order to conduct further investigation into gluconeogenic pathway, upstream regulator AMPK protein expression was studied. AMPK activation is commonly detected by monitoring its phosphorylation at Thr-172 and phosphorylation of downstream target acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1 (ACC-1), using phospho-specific antibodies. ACC-1 is a key enzyme involved in fatty acid synthesis, which is phosphorylated and inactivated by AMPK (32). MSX (100 µg/mL) slightly increased the ratio of pAMPK/ AMPK and pACC-1/ ACC-1 by about 40% and 26% of control, respectively (Fig. 3).

Moreover, MSX reduced the expression of PEPCK protein to about 55% and 43% of control at 50 μ g/mL and 100 μ g/mL concentration, respectively. Thus, MSX could be inhibiting PEPCK at translational level (Fig. 3) but not transcriptionally (Fig. 2).

Thus, glucose-lowering effect of MSX at higher concentration (100 µg/mL) could be attributed to downregulation of G6pase gene expression and PEPCK protein expression through AMPK activation. These results supported the

published *in vivo* studies with maple syrup; which reported reduced plasma glucose levels compared to a sucrose solution alone in an anti-diabetic animal model (22, 23). However, this is a preliminary study and further more detailed *in vivo* studies are needed to support this data.

3.4.2. MSX imparts lipid-lowering effects in mature mouse and human adipocytes

Next, MSX was evaluated for anti-lipogenic effects in mature mouse 3T3-L1 and human visceral adipocytes. Figs. 4A and 4C depict ORO staining of lipid droplets in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and human visceral adipocytes treated with DMSO vehicle (0.1%), resveratrol (50 μ M), metformin (1- 4 mM), or MSX (50 and/or 100 μ g/mL). Metformin and resveratrol were selected because of documented anti-lipogenic activity in both differentiated 3T3-L1 and human adipocytes (24, 25, 33). Resveratrol, at the concentration selected, reduced the staining to 78% of vehicle-treated control adipocytes (Fig. 4B). In contrast, metformin and MSX (50 and 100 μ g/mL) decreased the ORO staining by approximately 40-50% of control (Fig. 4B). To put our data in context with human health perspective, we tested MSX in mature adipocytes from a human donor. Metformin and MSX treatment reduced ORO staining in human adipocytes to 64% and 43% of vehicle-treated controls, respectively (Fig. 4D).

3.4.3. MSX downregulated lipogenic targets in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes.

In metabolic syndrome, adipocytes play crucial role in lipid storage and metabolism (34). In adjpocytes, several transcription factors act in concert during the adipogenesis and lipogensis phase, including PPARy, C/EBP α , and SREBP-1 (34-36). In order to explore the molecular mechanisms involved in MSX anti-lipogenic effects, the cell lysates were collected after 48 h treatment for evaluating lipogenic target protein expression in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Fig. 5 illustrates that MSX downregulated adipo/lipogenic transcription factors (i.e. PPARy, C/EBPa and SREBP-1 protein expression). PPARy and C/EBPa regulate the expression of variety of genes that are involved in different pathways including insulin sensitivity (glucose transporter GLUT4), lipogenesis (fatty-acid-binding protein, FABP4) and lipolysis (lipoprotein lipase, LPL, perilipin) and the secreted factors (adiponectin and leptin) (37). Here, we investigated the effect of MSX treatment on two targets, FABP4 and perilipin, in differentiated adipocytes. FABP4 is involved in fatty acid uptake, transport, and metabolism (38), whereas perilipin is localized at the periphery of lipid droplets and plays a pivotal role in lipid storage (39). MSX treatment downregulated the expression of these downstream targets in a concentration dependent manner. SREBP-1 induces the expression of lipogenic enzymes, including ACC-1 and fatty acid synthase (FAS) (34). MSX decreased protein expression of both ACC-1 and FAS in a concentration dependent manner. These observations depict decreased protein expression of adipo/lipogenic

targets after MSX treatment, which are consistent with reduced lipid staining in MSX-treated mature adipocytes depicted in Fig 4.

It is now well accepted that inflammation and associated pro-inflammatory processes are centrally linked to several chronic human diseases including obesity and diabetes (40). Hence, after exhibiting anti-lipogenic effect, MSX also demonstrated specific effects on mature adjpocytes that likely contribute to its overall anti-inflammatory effects. TNF- α and IL-6 are two key mediators of the inflammatory response in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes that have been linked to obesity-related inflammation. Thus, MSX effect on adipocyte inflammation was explored by measuring TNF- α and IL-6 mRNA expression (Fig. 6). At 48 hours, resveratrol reduced TNF- α or IL-6 mRNA expression to 60% and 40% of control respectively. In addition, MSX treatment at 50 µg/mL also reduced TNF- α and IL-6 to about 20% of control, however 100 µg/mL MSX treatment reduced both inflammatory targets to 36-47%. This is in agreement with our previous research where we have exhibited antiinflammatory effects of MSX (15) and maple syrup ethyl acetate extract (16) in lipopolysaccharide-induced macrophages. Moreover, in this study we have demonstrated inhibitory effect of MSX treatment on inflammatory markers in mature adipocytes. This is not surprising as MSX contains high levels of polyphenols, which are well-known antioxidants and anti-inflammatory agents (41). Interestingly, MSX contains stilbenes which are structurally related to resveratrol, a well-known polyphenol, thus we could anticipate MSX antilipogenic and anti-inflammatory effects (15).

MSX also contains high quantity of phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA), which has been proposed to improve insulin sensitivity and obesity-related inflammatory diseases through a PPAR γ-dependent mechanism. ABA is structurally similar to thiazolidinediones (drugs prescribed for diabetic management) (42). Dietary abscisic acid has been reported to improve glucose tolerance and obesity-related inflammation in db/db mice fed high-fat diet (43). MSX is particularly rich in lignans and these polyphenolic compounds are also found in flaxseed. Interestingly, flaxseed lignan have been shown to inhibit fat accumulation and induce adiponectin expression in high-fat diet-induced mouse model (44).

In conclusion, as depicted in Fig. 7 the lowered glucose levels after MSX treatment were attributed to AMPK activation in HepG2 hepatoma cell model. However, the effect of MSX-treatment were not drastic in HepG2 cells. Moreover, we demonstrated delipidating effects of MSX extract treatment by downregulating protein expression of adipo/lipogenic transcription factors and their downstream targets in differentiated 3T3L1 adipocytes (Fig. 6). In future, it would be interesting to explore mechanistic insights into obesity-linked inflammatory pathway using MSX-treated human adipose tissue explants.

This study, using in vitro models, provided preliminary data necessary to guide and support future in vivo studies investigating the potential use of a novel food grade maple syrup extract (MSX) as a nutraceutical preparation for positive impact on overall health.

Acknowledgement

This project was supported by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada from the Developing Innovative Agri-Products (DIAP) program. This work was also supported by grants from the National Institute of Health [4R01ES016042, 5K22ES013782 to ALS] for the supplies. Spectrophotometric data were acquired from instruments in the RI-INBRE core facility located at the University of Rhode Island (Kingston, RI, USA) supported by grant *#* 5P20GM103430-13 from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health. PN was supported by a graduate student scholarship from the Omar Magnate Family Foundation.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

3.5. Figure legends

Fig. 1. Effect of MSX extract on glucose levels in the media in HepG2 hepatoma cells. Cells were treated with MSX (50 and 100 μ g/mL) or metformin (100 μ M) in a low glucose media for 24 h and the cell supernatants were collected. MSX extracts inhibited glucose levels in the media in a concentration-dependent manner. The values are expressed as the means ±SE of three individual samples. '*' indicates P < 0.05 as compared with the control.

Fig. 2. Effect of MSX extract on mRNA expression of genes involved in gluconeogenesis, namely G6pase (A) and Pepck (B) in HepG2 hepatoma cells. Cells were treated with MSX (50 and 100 μ g/mL) or metformin (1 mM) in a low glucose media for 24 h and the cell lysates were collected. MSX extracts downregulated the gene expression of G6pase (A) and Pepck (B). The values are expressed as the means ±SE of three individual samples. '*' indicates P < 0.05 as compared with the control.

Fig. 3. Effect of MSX extract on protein expression of pAMPK, pACC and Pepck in HepG2 hepatoma cells. Cells were treated with MSX (50 and 100 µg/mL) or metformin (1 mM) in a low glucose media for 24 h and the cell lysates were collected. MSX extracts upregulated the expression of pAMPK, pACC, and Pepck. Fig. 4. Effect of MSX extract on lipid accumulation by ORO staining and quantification in mature 3T3-L1 (A,B) and human visceral adipocytes (C,D). Cells were treated with MSX (50 and 100 μ g/mL) or metformin (1 or 4 mM) or resveratrol (50 μ M) for 48 h and ORO staining was performed to stain and quantify lipid droplets in differentiated murine adipocytes (4A & 4B) and in mature human visceral adipocytes (4C & 4D). '*' indicates P < 0.05 and '**' indicates P < 0.01 as compared with the control.

Fig. 5. Effect of MSX extract on protein expression of lipogenic targets after MSX treatment in mature 3T3-L1 cells. Cells were treated with MSX (50 and 100 μ g/mL) or metformin (1 or 4 mM) or resveratrol (50 μ M) for 48 h and the cell lysates were collected after 48 h MSX treatment in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes for protein expression. MSX extracts downregulated the protein expression of adipo/lipogenic targets.

Fig. 6. Effect of MSX extract on gene expression of inflammatory markers in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Cells were treated with MSX (50 and 100 μ g/mL) or resveratrol (50 μ M) for 48 h and the cell lysates were collected for mRNA expression. MSX extracts reduced the expression of inflammatory genes TNF- α and IL-6 in differentiated 3T3-L1 cells. The values are expressed as the means ±SE of three individual samples. Significant differences between groups were determined using a one-way ANOVA test followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. '*' indicates P < 0.05 as compared with the control.

Fig. 7. MSX hypoglycemic and anti-lipogenic effect in HepG2 cells and 3T3-L1 cells.







Fig. 4. Effect of MSX extract on lipid accumulation by ORO staining and quantification in mature 3T3-L1 (A,B) and human visceral adipocytes (C,D).









3.7. References

1. Mitrakou A, Kelley D, Mokan M, Veneman T, Pangburn T, Reilly J, et al. Role of reduced suppression of glucose production and diminished early insulin release in impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. 1992;326(1):22-9.

2. Perriello G, Pampanelli S, Del Sindaco P, Lalli C, Ciofetta M, Volpi E, et al. Evidence of increased systemic glucose production and gluconeogenesis in an early stage of NIDDM. Diabetes. 1997;46(6):1010-6.

3. Hundal RS, Krssak M, Dufour S, Laurent D, Lebon V, Chandramouli V, et al. Mechanism by which metformin reduces glucose production in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2000;49(12):2063-9.

4. Makki K, Froguel P, Wolowczuk I. Adipose Tissue in Obesity-Related Inflammation and Insulin Resistance: Cells, Cytokines, and Chemokines. ISRN Inflamm. 2013;2013:139239. PMCID: 3881510.

5. Lasa A, Churruca I, Eseberri I, Andres-Lacueva C, Portillo MP. Delipidating effect of resveratrol metabolites in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012;56(10):1559-68.

6. Li L, Seeram NP. Maple syrup phytochemicals include lignans, coumarins, a stilbene, and other previously unreported antioxidant phenolic compounds. J Agric Food Chem. 2010;58(22):11673-9.

7. Li L, Seeram NP. Further investigation into maple syrup yields 3 new lignans, a new phenylpropanoid, and 26 other phytochemicals. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59(14):7708-16.

8. Zhang Y, Yuan T, Li L, Nahar P, Slitt A, Seeram NP. Chemical compositional, biological, and safety studies of a novel maple syrup derived extract (MSX) for nutraceutical applications. J Agric Food Chem. 2014.

9. Tan AC, Konczak I, Sze DM, Ramzan I. Molecular Pathways for Cancer Chemoprevention by Dietary Phytochemicals. Nutrition and cancer. 2011:1.

10. Kim MK, Kim K, Han JY, Lim JM, Song YS. Modulation of inflammatory signaling pathways by phytochemicals in ovarian cancer. Genes Nutr. 2011.

11. Chen S. Natural products triggering biological targets--a review of the anti inflammatory phytochemicals targeting the arachidonic acid pathway in allergy asthma and rheumatoid arthritis. Current drug targets. 2011;12(3):288-301.

12. Zeng H, Lazarova DL. Obesity-related colon cancer: dietary factors and their mechanisms of anticancer action. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2011.

13. Ros E, Tapsell LC, Sabate J. Nuts and berries for heart health. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2010;12(6):397-406.

14. Tapsell LC, Hemphill I, Cobiac L, Patch CS, Sullivan DR, Fenech M, et al. Health benefits of herbs and spices: the past, the present, the future. Med J Aust. 2006;185(4 Suppl):S4-24.

15. Zhang Y, Yuan T, Li L, Nahar P, Slitt A, Seeram NP. Chemical compositional, biological, and safety studies of a novel maple syrup derived extract for nutraceutical applications. J Agric Food Chem. 2014;62(28):6687-98. PMCID: 4334281.

16. Nahar P, Driscoll M, Li L, Slitt A, Seeram N. Phenolic mediated antiinflammatory effects of a maple syrup extract against RAW264.7 macrophages. Journal of Functional Foods. 2014;6:10.

17. Apostolidis E, Li L, Lee C, Seeram NP. In vitro evaluation of phenolicenriched maple syrup extracts for inhibition of carbohydrate hydrolyzing enzymes relevant to type 2 diabetes management. Journal of Functional Foods. 2011;3(2):100-6.

18. González-Sarrías A, Li L, Seeram NP. Anticancer effects of maple syrup phenolics and extracts on proliferation, apoptosis, and cell cycle arrest of human colon cells. Journal of Functional Foods. 2011;4(1):185-96.

19. Legault J, Girard-Lalancette K, Grenon C, Dussault C, Pichette A. Antioxidant activity, inhibition of nitric oxide overproduction, and in vitro antiproliferative effect of maple sap and syrup from Acer saccharum. J Med Food. 2010;13(2):460-8.

20. Watanabe Y, Kamei A, Shinozaki F, Ishijima T, Iida K, Nakai Y, et al. Ingested maple syrup evokes a possible liver-protecting effect-physiologic and genomic investigations with rats. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2011;75(12):2408-10.

21. St-Pierre P, Pilon G, Dumais V, Dion C, Dubois MJ, Dube P, et al. Comparative analysis of maple syrup to other natural sweeteners and evaluation of their metabolic responses in healthy rats. Journal of Functional Foods. 2014;11:460-71.

22. Nagai N, Ito Y, Taga A. Comparison of the enhancement of plasma glucose levels in type 2 diabetes Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty rats by oral administration of sucrose or maple syrup. J Oleo Sci. 2013;62(9):737-43.

23. Nagai N, Yamamoto T, Tanabe W, Ito Y, Kurabuchi S, Mitamura K, et al. Changes in Plasma Glucose in Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty Rats After Oral Administration of Maple Syrup. Journal of Oleo Science. 2015;advpub.

24. Rayalam S, Yang JY, Ambati S, Della-Fera MA, Baile CA. Resveratrol induces apoptosis and inhibits adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Phytother Res. 2008;22(10):1367-71.

25. Alexandre KB, Smit AM, Gray IP, Crowther NJ. Metformin inhibits intracellular lipid accumulation in the murine pre-adipocyte cell line, 3T3-L1. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2008;10(8):688-90.

26. Ramirez-Zacarias JL, Castro-Munozledo F, Kuri-Harcuch W. Quantitation of adipose conversion and triglycerides by staining intracytoplasmic lipids with Oil red O. Histochemistry. 1992;97(6):493-7.

27. Kasturi R, Joshi VC. Hormonal regulation of stearoyl coenzyme A desaturase activity and lipogenesis during adipose conversion of 3T3-L1 cells. J Biol Chem. 1982;257(20):12224-30.

28. Tu Z, Moss-Pierce T, Ford P, Jiang TA. Rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.) extract regulates glucose and lipid metabolism by activating AMPK and PPAR pathways in HepG2 cells. J Agric Food Chem. 2013;61(11):2803-10.

29. Foretz M, Hebrard S, Leclerc J, Zarrinpashneh E, Soty M, Mithieux G, et al. Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice independently of the LKB1/AMPK pathway via a decrease in hepatic energy state. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(7):2355-69. PMCID: 2898585.

30. Zang M, Zuccollo A, Hou X, Nagata D, Walsh K, Herscovitz H, et al. AMP-activated protein kinase is required for the lipid-lowering effect of metformin in insulin-resistant human HepG2 cells. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(46):47898-905.

31. Cool B, Zinker B, Chiou W, Kifle L, Cao N, Perham M, et al. Identification and characterization of a small molecule AMPK activator that treats key components of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. Cell Metab. 2006;3(6):403-16.

32. Hardie DG. AMPK: a target for drugs and natural products with effects on both diabetes and cancer. Diabetes. 2013;62(7):2164-72. PMCID: 3712072.

33. Fischer-Posovszky P, Kukulus V, Tews D, Unterkircher T, Debatin KM, Fulda S, et al. Resveratrol regulates human adipocyte number and function in a Sirt1-dependent manner. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;92(1):5-15.

34. Shimano H. SREBPs: physiology and pathophysiology of the SREBP family. FEBS J. 2009;276(3):616-21.

35. Payne VA, Au WS, Lowe CE, Rahman SM, Friedman JE, O'Rahilly S, et al. C/EBP transcription factors regulate SREBP1c gene expression during adipogenesis. Biochem J. 2010;425(1):215-23. PMCID: 2913385.

36. Tamori Y, Masugi J, Nishino N, Kasuga M. Role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ in maintenance of the characteristics of mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Diabetes. 2002;51(7):2045-55.

37. Lowe CE, O'Rahilly S, Rochford JJ. Adipogenesis at a glance. Journal of Cell Science. 2011;124(16):2681-6.

38. Maeda K, Cao H, Kono K, Gorgun CZ, Furuhashi M, Uysal KT, et al. Adipocyte/macrophage fatty acid binding proteins control integrated metabolic responses in obesity and diabetes. Cell Metab. 2005;1(2):107-19.

39. Arimura N, Horiba T, Imagawa M, Shimizu M, Sato R. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma regulates expression of the perilipin gene in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(11):10070-6.

40. Lashinger LM, Ford NA, Hursting SD. Interacting inflammatory and growth factor signals underlie the obesity-cancer link. J Nutr. 2014;144(2):109-13. PMCID: 3901418.

41. Joseph SV, Edirisinghe I, Burton-Freeman BM. Fruit polyphenols: A review of anti-inflammatory effects in humans. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2015:0.

42. Li HH, Hao RL, Wu SS, Guo PC, Chen CJ, Pan LP, et al. Occurrence, function and potential medicinal applications of the phytohormone abscisic acid in animals and humans. Biochem Pharmacol. 2011;82(7):701-12.

43. Guri AJ, Hontecillas R, Si H, Liu D, Bassaganya-Riera J. Dietary abscisic acid ameliorates glucose tolerance and obesity-related inflammation in db/db mice fed high-fat diets. Clin Nutr. 2007;26(1):107-16.

44. Fukumitsu S, Aida K, Ueno N, Ozawa S, Takahashi Y, Kobori M. Flaxseed lignan attenuates high-fat diet-induced fat accumulation and induces adiponectin expression in mice. Br J Nutr. 2008;100(3):669-76.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

1. In this thesis, we have demonstrated that bioactive polyphenol-rich extracts namely- Longvida® and food grade maple syrup extract exert positive health benefits beyond basic nutrition, thus impacting overall health and wellness.

2. A novel curcumin formulation Longvida® showed improved solubility over unformulated curcumin, and significantly decreased the LPS-induced pro-inflammatory mediators in macrophages.

3. Maple syrup extract and its purified compounds significantly inhibited the production of inflammatory markers through the direct inhibition of NF-kB transcriptional activity in stimulated macrophages. Overall, the cellular mechanisms underlying these multiple effects may be attributed to the unique combination of pure compounds present in the extract, which appear to act *in toto*.

4. We demonstrated delipidating effects of food-grade MSX extract treatment by downregulating protein expression of adipo/lipogenic transcription factors and their downstream targets in differentiated murine 3T3L1 adipocytes. MSX treatment also decreased lipid accumulation in human adipocytes. MSX extract could also have potential application in obesity-linked inflammation.

5. In conclusion, this study, using in vitro models, provided preliminary data necessary to guide and support future in vivo studies investigating the potential use of a novel curcumin formulation Longvida® and food grade maple syrup extract (MSX) as a nutraceutical preparation for positive impact on overall health.